Public Document Pack

Simon W. Baker B.Ed MBA MISPAL
Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a
MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 24 April 2018 at 2.00 pm in
The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek
Contact Officer:

Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:S. Ralphs MBE
A. Forrester
M. Bowen
T. Hall
E. Wain
D. Ogden
S. Scalise

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Environment (Deputy Leader)
Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks,
Countryside and Housing
Customer Services
Planning, Development and Property
Cabinet Support Member
Cabinet Support Member

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.
1.

Apologies

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 5 - 10)

3.

Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests
P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Tel: 0345 605 3010

A G E N D A (Continued)

5.

Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any

6.

Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any

7.

Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any

8.

Joint Consultative Committee Minutes - 17 April 2018 (Pages 11 - 16)

9.

Leader

10.

9 .1

Forward Plan (Pages 17 - 26)

9 .2

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme (Pages 27 - 38)

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
10 .1 Homelessness Strategy (Pages 39 - 68)

11.

Customer Services
11 .1 Equality and Diversity Policy (Pages 69 - 80)

12.

Planning, Development and Property
12 .1 National Planning Policy Framework Consultation (Pages 81 - 92)
12 .2 Foxt Conservation Area Designation and Character Appraisal (Pages 93 132)

13.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Chair to Move:“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act,
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would
be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

14.

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
14 .1 Review of Public Realm CCTV Surveillance System (Pages 133 - 182)
(Paragraph 3, 7 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs
of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)
Any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention,
investigation or prosecution of crime.)

15.

Environment
15 .1 Alliance Environmental Services - Phase 2 Transfer of Services (Pages 183 206)
(Paragraph 3, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs

A G E N D A (Continued)

of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege
could be maintained in legal proceedings.)
16.

Planning, Development and Property
16 .1 Facilities Management Contract (Pages 207 - 224)
(Paragraph 3, 4 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs
of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the
Crown and employees of, or office holders under the authority.)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS
TUESDAY, 13 FEBRUARY 2018
PRESENT:

Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)
Councillors M Bowen, A Forrester, T Hall, D Ogden, S Scalise and
E Wain

45

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED)
The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2017 were approved.

46

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations of interest made.

47

FORWARD PLAN
DECISION: That the Forward Plan for February 2018 be approved for publication.

48

THIRD QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE
REVIEW 2017/18
The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December 2017 (“Third
Quarter 2017/18”). The report was considered by the Resources Overview and
Scrutiny Panel on 7 February 2018. The position was summarised as follows:
Subject
Finance

Headline
The Finance headlines for the third quarter were:
Performance against Budget
 The General Fund budget for 2017/18 was forecast to be
£1,021,700 underspent at the Quarter 3 stage.
Efficiency Programme
 The overall efficiency target of £661,000 for 2017/18 was
projected to be achieved at the third quarter stage – with
£480,970 achieved to date. This was dependent on the
progression of key efficiency programmes.
Capital Programme
 The Capital Programme budget for 2017/18 was £3.4 million
including the carry forward of capital underspends from
2016/17. The projected outturn was £1.71 million which
represented an underspend of £1.69 million relating to the reprofiling of the Disabled Facilities Grants, Asset Management
Plan and the Growth Fund projects
Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31st December 2017 totalled £10.3
million.
 The Ascent loan and debenture stood at £19 million.
 Council borrowing at 31st December 2017 totalled £13.2 million
Page
5 to the Ascent loan)
(£12 million of which
related
1

Cabinet - 13 February 2018
Subject

Headline


Procurement

Performance

The Council’s net interest receipts budget was projected to
show a surplus of £23,000 at quarter 3 stage.
Revenue Collection
 84.5% of council tax was collected by 31st December 2017,
compared to 84.8% for the same period last year.
 81.7% of Business Rates was collected by 31st December
2017 compared with 81.2% for the same period last year.
 At the end of quarter three the value of sundry debt that was
over 60 days old was £105,034 which compares with £251,658
at 31st December 2016.
The Procurement headlines for the third quarter were:
 15 procurement activities were completed
 The procurement forward plan included a further 43
procurement activities scheduled for 2017/18 (either SMDC only
or joint)
 At the 31st December 2017, 67% of procurement activity
undertaken was on the forward plan and the Council paid 96%
of its invoices within 30 days during the year.

The Performance headlines for the third quarter were:

81% of the key performance indicators were on track
 Of the 24 priority actions within the Corporate Plan, 2 were
still to commence, 3 were complete, 2 were rated amber,
the remainder being classified as ‘Green’
 The Council received 44 complaints, 53 comments and 26
compliments in the third quarter. Repeat complaints and
response times were both on track

Options considered:
Detailed analysis was contained within the appendices.
DECISION:
That the Third Quarter 2017/18 financial, procurement and performance position
detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the covering report be
noted.
49

2018/19 BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2018/19 TO 2021/22
The purpose of the report was to present the proposed Budget for 2018/19, updated
Medium-Term Financial Plan 2018/19 – 2021/22, Procurement Forward Plan
2018/19 and proposed Fees and Charges for 2018/19. The report was considered
by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 7 February 2018.
Options considered:
The report was a statement of fact. As such there were no options to consider.
DECISION:
That the COUNCIL BE RECOMMENDED as follows:

Page 6

Cabinet - 13 February 2018

50

1.

Approve the General Fund Budget for 2018/19 as detailed in Appendix A
(section 8)

2.

Approve the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2018/19 to 2021/22) as
detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme (attached at
Annex A)

3.

Approve the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2018/19, providing the
authority to procure based on procurement activity detailed in Appendix B

4.

Approve the proposed Fees and Charges for 2018/19 as detailed in
Appendix C

5.

Approve a Band D Council Tax of £146.30 for 2018/19 (an increase of 2.9%
from 2018/19)

6.

Approve a Band D Council Tax of £50.47 for Leek and £10.15 for Biddulph for
2018/19 (an increase of 2.9% from 2017/18) in respect of Special District
Expenses

7.

Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are adequate
for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the
time of preparing it (Appendix A section 7)

WORLD WAR ONE COMMEMORATION ARRANGEMENTS
The report presented proposals for the Council to mark the centenary of the end of
World War I during 2018.
Options considered:


That the Council created a £20,000 WW1 grants budget as proposed in the
report. (Recommended)



That the Council created a budget of a different amount and/or a different
mechanism for allocating the grant. (Not recommended)



That the Council did not create a WW1 grant budget. (Not recommended)

DECISION:
1.

That the Council helps to enable parish and town councils to hold WW1
centenary events and activities to mark the ending of the war in November
2018.

2.

That a WW1 grant budget of £20,000 be established. Grants would be
available to parish and town councils in Staffordshire Moorlands (as detailed
in sections 7.9 and 7.10 of the report).

3.

That a range of tools be used to promote the commemorations local and
national and involvement by communities including: the use of the Council
website, social media, Parish Assembly and direct participation in events.

Page 7

Cabinet - 13 February 2018

51

CEMETERY REGULATIONS REVIEW
The report advised the Cabinet of the revised Cemetery Regulations proposed for
adoption in the Moorlands. The report was considered by the Service Delivery
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 24 January 2018.
Options considered:
There were two options available to the Council:
1.
2.

To adopt the revised regulations, which included the adoption of lawn cemetery
status at Leek cemetery (recommended).
To not adopt the revised regulations (not recommended).

DECISION:
1. That the revised cemetery regulations set out in the Appendix to the report be
adopted.
2. That lawn cemetery status at Leek cemetery be adopted.
52

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The Council must comply with a number of different Acts and Regulations when
processing information. Failure to process information properly can lead to a range
of problems including poor decision making, inefficient business processes,
inconvenience or harm to residents and others, reputational damage to the Authority,
and/or enforcement action by the Information Commissioner’s Office. The report
introduced an information governance framework for managing information and the
associated risks, and supporting regulatory, legal, and operational requirements.
Options considered:
That Cabinet approved the outlined approach to Information Governance
(recommended).
That Cabinet did not approve the outlined approach (not recommended).
DECISION:
1. That the content of the report be noted and that the proposed approach to
information governance be approved.
2. That all Councillors would be registered with the ICO, and meet the registration
costs, unless individual councillors wished to opt-out from registering.

53

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DESIGN GUIDE - SUPPLEMENTARY
PLANNING DOCUMENT
A draft design guide had been completed for Staffordshire Moorlands and had been
subject to consultation with the public and a regional organisation that promotes
good architectural design. The report sets out the results of the consultation
8
exercise and recommended that Page
the amended
design guide be adopted as a

Cabinet - 13 February 2018
Supplementary Planning Document. The report was considered by the Service
Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 24 January 2018.
Options considered:
Option 1 - Do Nothing
Without the Design Guide, there would be a general lack of design guidance specific
to Staffordshire Moorlands. There would be no mechanism by which the Council
could raise the quality of design and determine applications for development within
the area. Not recommended
Option 2 – Adopt the Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide
The adoption of the Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide would offer
supplementary design advice for developers, architects and agents when submitting
proposals for development in Staffordshire Moorlands. The guide identified the local
traditional characteristics of buildings in the area and offers advice on how to
approach new development projects that enhances and responds to the local
context. The guide and technical appendices that flow from it would improve and
raise the standard of design across the area and could be used in the determination
of planning applications and appeals. Recommended
DECISION:
That the COUNCIL BE RECOMMENDED as follows:
1. Note the consultation comments and officers’ responses to them;
2. Recommend to approval of the amended version of the Staffordshire Moorlands
Design Guide for adoption as a Supplementary Planning Document; and
3. Delegate approval to officers to make any technical updates to the design guide,
including the detailed appendices, as required.

The meeting closed at 2.27 pm

_________________________________Chairman

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Minutes
TUESDAY, 17 APRIL 2018
(10.30 AM)
PRESENT:

Councillor A Forrester (Chairman) S Robinson (Vice-Chair)
Representing the Council:
Councillors M Bowen, L D Lea and C Wood. Also I Lawson and
D Ogden
Representing the Employees:
J. Percival, D Wright and A Capulet-Buxton
Officers
A Stokes, T Cooper, D Owen, D Smith and P Trafford

APOLOGIES:

Councillors C R Jebb, B Johnson and C Pearce. A Swithenbank

Steve Robinson introduced the 2 new union representatives to members
Background Papers to these Minutes are exempt by virtue of the
provisions of Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972
- Part 1 of Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 (Information relating to an individual) or
Paragraph 4 (Labour relations matters).
Please note: These minutes are subject to approval by Cabinet.

16

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 31 October 2017 be
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
MATTERS ARISING –
 David Owen advised that, further to Minute No. 10 (1st bullet point) relating to
Counter-Terrorism training, he had since spoken to Cllr. Forrester and now
needed to speak to Cllr. Ralphs in order to agree on provision of training
sessions for the Staffordshire Moorlands staff and members;
 David referred to Minute No. 11 (Asbestos Personal Protective Equipment)
stating that the Corporate Health & Safety Policy had now been amended to
comply with changes in legislation;
 Steve Robinson asked whether the pay anomalies referred to in Minute No.
10 (4th bullet point) had been addressed? Tanya Cooper was able to confirm
that the pay-scale bar had been lifted and affected staff had since been backpaid to April 2017;


Steve asked whether the split between operational/office staff had been
Page 11
researched, as referred to in Minute No. 12? Tanya confirmed that the split

-

-

Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC)- 17 April 2018



17

would be displayed in the Sickness Absence Report from 2018/19, but that
the split was 70% / 30% operational/office staff;
Steve asked, under Minute No. 13 (Union questions) whether a comparison
exercise had been carried out regarding pay levels for Refuse Drivers? Tanya
clarified that the exercise had bee carried out with other Staffordshire
authorities. SMDC featured 4th out of 7 compared. The top 3 were –
Newcastle under Lyme BC, Stoke on Trent CC and ANSA. It was pointed out,
however, that this was not a ‘like-for-like’ comparison due to existing
individual local agreements.

REVISED WORKPLACE INSPECTIONS PROCEDURE
The Council’s insurer – Zurich Municipal – had carried out an audit of the Workplace
Inspections Procedures and found a number of anomalies relating to Car Parks and
Estates inspections.
The resultant revisions to the Policy and Inspection Form – appended to the report –
were recommended in order to align the procedures to give a consistent approach to
such matters.
RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED.
FURTHER RESOLVED – That the revised Policy and Inspection Sheet/Risk
Assessments be APPROVED.

18

TOOL BOX TALK - CARPAL TUNNEL SYNDROME - VERBAL UPDATE
David Owen advised that there were a total of 46 Tool Box Talks (TBT’s) currently in
place in the authority. They were seen to be a good way of conveying Health &
Safety-related messages to staff members.
Carpal Tunnel Syndrome (CTS) was known to be related to some health conditions
such as diabetes and joint injuries and in some cases, to Hand Arm Vibration
Syndrome (HAVS). This TBT was contained in the agenda for this particular meeting
with a link to the following agenda item.

19

HEALTH & SAFETY EXECUTIVE VISIT - MARCH 2018 + SUBSEQUENT
POLICY AMENDMENT
A recent visit by the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) Inspector – Rachel Pargeter resulted from a situation which occurred over a 2 ½ year timespan. In June 2015, a
High Peak Community Housing (HPCH) employee was diagnosed as suffering with
HAVS. At that point in time, HPCH had not been taken fully under the Alliance
umbrella and, as a result, the Health & Safety arrangements were not the
responsibility of the Alliance. The Manager subsequently left HPCH and continuity of
Health & Safety reporting arrangements failed in this instance.

In the meantime, in October 2017, the same employee – now an Alliance employee
– was diagnosed with CTS, which may well have developed from the original HAVS.
The continuity failure referred to Page
above 12
was identified and the relevant RIDDOR
2

Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC)- 17 April 2018
(Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995)
report was submitted.
The above HSE visit was the result of this and in general, the Inspector was very
happy with the Health and Safety practices in place. However, as there had been a
failure to report situation High Peak Borough Council was to be served with a ‘Notice
of Contravention’, DGO advised that he had already planned to update the HAVS
Policy, this has been achieved and the revised policy sent to the HSE for comment.
The revised Corporate Policy was contained on the agenda, with revisions showing
in red. Application of the policy would ensure that this type of occurrence would not
happen again. By definition, it would ensure that all relevant parties would be
involved (Responsible Manager, individual concerned, Human Resources Business
Partner and Corporate Health & Safety Adviser).
David clarified that none of the working practices within the Alliance were likely to
expose employees to vibration levels anywhere near the daily exposure action value
– quoted in the Policy as 2.5 m/s2 A(8).
20

SICKNESS ABSENCE REPORT - DECEMBER 2017
Tanya Cooper introduced the report to members, showing the picture for the period
April to November 2017. At that time, an average of 5.21 days per full-time employee
had been lost to sickness, which was ‘on-track’ for the annual target of 9 days.
However, since that time the amount of time lost had increased, so that the target
had been missed. The exact figure would be reported to the next meeting of the
committee.
Of the sickness cases, 19 were classified as ‘long-term’, which accounted for 682.5
out of the total of 872 days. The main contributory cause for sickness was, as
previously, Musculo-Skeletal problems, accounting for 38.9% of all absence.
Actions








21

By 31 December 2017, there had been 30 ‘stage 1’ and 13 ‘stage 2’
interviews;
2 cases were seeking redeployment;
4 staff had a phased/supported return to work plan in place;
2 staff were on temporarily adjusted duties;
There had been 14 stress-related cases, 2 of which were work related, 10
were personal and 2 were a combination of work/personal;
55 cases had been referred to Occupational Health;
Flu clinics had been held in Leek and Buxton.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE REPORT & POLICY

Page 13
3

Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC)- 17 April 2018
David Smith presented the document “Support for Domestic Abuse Victims at Work”,
which outlined the support that would be provided by the Council to any employee
who was a victim of domestic abuse and the steps that would be taken to protect
them from the risk of violent attacks or further abuse from partners, ex-partners or
family members while at work.
The policy was one of the priorities of the Police & Crime Commissioner and was
based on a template provided by Staffordshire Women’s Aid and set out:




The Council’s commitment to supporting victims of Domestic Abuse;
The support available for employees;
Guidance for managers and those in support management roles; and
The Council’s position on those that are perpetrating domestic abuse.

To support the introduction of the Policy, the Council had appointed and trained 2
‘Domestic Abuse Champions’ to provide support for council employees. The training
had been based around the ‘5 R’s model’:





Raise awareness;
Recognise signs;
Respond;
Refer; and
Record.

Members were uncomfortable with the title ‘Domestic Abuse Champions’ and asked
whether an alternative could be found. David agreed to look into this.
RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED and that the policy on support for
domestic abuse victims at work be APPROVED, subject to a
potential change in the title from ‘Domestic Abuse Champions’ as
referred to above.
22

QUARTERLY UNION MEETING - MATTERS ARISING
Andrew Stokes reported discussions which had taken place at the recent meeting
with the union representatives. Subjects discussed were:Flexible Working Policy
Most issues now sorted out.
Gender Pay Gap
SMDC were below the reporting threshold (250 employees) whilst HPBC were
above it. The calculation was done for both authorities anyway, showing a ‘negative’
pay gap in each case (females paid more than males) – SM 6%, HP 4.8%.

Alliance Environmental Services (AES)

Page 14
4

Joint Consultative Committee (SMDC)- 17 April 2018
Phase 2 of the transfer was due to take place (transfer of SMDC staff to AES). All
managers within the service had been thoroughly briefed on the process. Steve
Robinson reported that staff involved felt that there had been insufficient
consultation, leading to rumours regarding vehicle procurement, use of temporary
employees and rights to union representation. Assurances were being sought on pay
& conditions within AES.
Andrew Stokes confirmed that the retention of current pay & conditions was 1 of the
3 main priorities for AES, of which he and Simon Baker were both Directors and
therefore formed part of the Shareholders’ Board. There was also a Commissioning
Board with membership made up including SMDC councillors. By default, Alliance
policies would apply to AES as a starting point. There was also a Joint Waste
Working Group made up of a mixture of SMDC and HPBC councillors, with officer
representation as and when required. One of the Human Resources Business
Partners was to transfer to AES in order to assist in continuity of service.
There was to be a change in the way vehicles were procured, in that AES would
source them and SMDC/HPBC would pay for them, simply as an efficiency to get the
best possible price to purchase and maintain them.
A report was to go before the SMDC Cabinet on 24 April 2018 which, subject to
approval and Call-in, would then enable detailed discussions with staff to
commence.
Cabinet members present at the meeting confirmed their support for the staff and
hoped for continuation of the excellent standards currently experienced.
Dave Wright referred to the use of seasonal workers who would conclude their fixed
term contract, then re-commence work the following day on an agency basis.
Andy Capulet-Buxton expressed a worry on behalf of union members regarding any
potential drop in standards, stressing that good communications were the key to
maintaining good staff morale.
David Owen referred to the fact that all partner organisations involved had attained
the ROSPA Gold status. There was, therefore, no significant change envisaged
regarding Health & Safety.
23

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The date of the next meeting will be published within the agenda for Full Council, to
be held on Wednesday 16 May 2018.

24

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

The meeting closed at 12.05 pm

_________________________________Chair ____________________Date

Page 15
5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN
April 2018
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take
dshortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’ The Plan is
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Should you have any questions
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.
A key decision is one defined as:
"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."
OR
"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551.
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public. However, occasionally, some
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal
information). This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings
where this will apply and the reason for this.
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private. This will again state why this is
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the
meeting should be open to the public. This will also include a statement of the
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 17

1

INDEX
Date of decision
to be made

Page
No.

Review of Public Realm CCTV Surveillance System

24 April 2018

3

Homelessness Strategy

24 April 2018

4

24 April 2018

5

24 April 2018

6

24 April 2018

7

National Planning Policy Framework Consultation

24 April 2018

8

Foxt Conservation Area Designation and Character Appraisal

24 April 2018

9

Facilities Management Contract

24 April 2018

10

Matter to be decided
COMMUNITIES, LEISURE, SPORT, PARKS, COUNTRYSIDE AND
HOUSING

CUSTOMER SERVICES
Equality and Diversity Policy
ENVIRONMENT
Alliance Environmental Services – Phase 2 Transfer of Services
LEADER
Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme
PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY

Page 18

2

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
Matter for decision

Review of Public Realm CCTV Surveillance
System

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Community

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Private – Financial or business affairs of any
particular person

Page 19

3

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
Matter for decision

Homelessness Strategy

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Head of Customer Services

Public/Private report

Public

Page 20

4

Customer Services
Matter for decision

Equality and Diversity Policy

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2016

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Hall

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 21

5

Environment
Matter for decision

Alliance Environmental Services – Phase 2
Transfer of Services

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Forrester

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private – Financial or business affairs of any
particular person

Page 22

6

Leader
Matter for decision

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 23

7

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

Facilities Management Contract

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private – Financial or business affairs of any
particular person

Page 24

8

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

National Planning Policy Framework
Consultation

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 25

9

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

Foxt Conservation Area Designation and
Character Appraisal

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

24 April 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 26

10

Agenda Item 9.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
24 April 2018
TITLE:

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Sybil Ralphs – Portfolio Holder
for Regeneration

CONTACT OFFICER:

Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to prepare for the delivery of the Local Plan
subject to submission to the Planning Inspectorate this summer and
successful examination thereafter. The report is aimed to inform the members
of the issues and potential opportunities for accelerating housing delivery in
the District and to seek approval for a comprehensive package of approaches
to tackle low level of development activity and to maintain the 5 year supply in
order to deliver the Local Plan.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that;

2.2

The Cabinet approve the following:
a.
The proposal for the Accelerated Housing Delivery programme
as outlined in papa 7.5 and 7.7.
b.
The expenditure as outline in para 6.4

2.3

The Cabinet note the options in section 5 and approve the recommended
option as outlined in paragraph 5.2

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Staffordshire Moorlands has suffered from low levels of development for
many years. Planning approvals are being granted on sites but some are not
coming forward to the construction phase. Currently 189 homes have full
planning permission, and a further 900 homes have outline approval as of
March 2018. In order to tackle this problem we have listened to the issues
raised by developers and developed a comprehensive delivery programme to

Page 27

tackle the problem.
3.2

The accelerated housing delivery programme has two aims, to;
 Drive forward delivery of the local plan and maintain 5 year land supply
by proactive measures and Council led interventions where
appropriate.
 Deliver community benefits in form of increased income from council
tax, business rates and New Homes Bonus for reinvestment in the
community.

3.3

The emerging local plan will be considered by a Council Assembly in June
2018. If approved the Plan will be submitted to the Secretary of State with the
public examination process expected to take place in Autumn 2018.
Depending on the outcome, adoption is likely to happen in spring 2019. The
local plan makes provision for around 3859 new homes including around 2847
upon allocated sites

3.4

In parallel to the Local Plan, the Council is working jointly with Staffordshire
County Council to prepare a Growth Strategy to provide a delivery mechanism
for the Plan. The report seeking approval to start consultation for the Draft
Growth Strategy will be considered by the Cabinet in June 2018. Both Local
Plan and Growth Strategy are aimed at supporting and delivering sustainable
and planned growth in the District.

3.5

This report forms the delivery mechanism for the housing delivery element of
the emerging Local Plan and the emerging Growth Strategy and outlines how
it will be delivered though the following actions:
 Open for business approach to planning applications and the regulatory
process
 Facilitating development on sites with un-implemented planning approvals
 Accelerating delivery of emerging Local Plan sites
 Council-led proactive interventions

3.6

The above mentioned approach is anticipated to accelerate housing delivery
that will support economic growth in the area and enhance the vibrancy of our
towns and villages. The successful delivery of the proposed accelerated
housing delivery programme will bring the following benefits;
 Increase the number of new homes built, meeting housing demand
identified in the local plan and contributing to the Council’s 5 year land
supply
 Increased investment in community benefits through S106 contributions as
well as increased income from Council tax and potentially from New
Homes Bonus
 Delivery of affordable homes in line with the emerging Local Plan Policy
 Inward investment through the development and construction activities
 Creation and retention of jobs through construction of homes and
supporting the supply of homes for skilled labour force for the local
businesses
 Increased footfall and spend in the local economy

Page 28



Stimulus for economic growth and external investment to help towns and
villages remain vibrant and sustainable.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The delivery plan has the potential to help deliver all four aims of the
Corporate Plan:
 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and
work
 Meet financial challengers & provide value for money
 Support economic development & regeneration
 Protect and improve the environment

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

To not approve the Accelerated Housing delivery proposal. This is not
considered the preferred option because the government is imposing
sanctions on local authorities who are unable demonstrate a delivery of the
housing target. This is currently based on OAN of 320 dwellings per year until
the new local plan is adopted. The community benefits in the form of Council
Tax, New Homes Bonus and Business Rate would be reduced. Not
recommended

5.2

To approve the accelerated housing delivery programme. Having an
implementation plan in place will help in demonstrating the Council’s
commitment to delivering the emerging Local Plan and maintaining a 5 year
land supply. The government is focused on housing delivery and is
encouraging local authorities to take a more proactive approach. The
accelerated housing delivery programme coordinates the council’s effort to
access funding and attract investment into the area. Recommended

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2

Workforce
 The Regeneration Team is able to provide project
management support, with experience and expertise in
delivering development projects by utilising the relevant
funding streams available.
 A phased approach is suggested in order to utilise the
available capacity of the team and to manage the workload
more efficiently.
 The project requires a multi- disciplinary approach, coordinating expertise from various teams, including;
o Regeneration
o Property Services
o Planning Applications Team

Page 29

o Finance
o Legal
6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
No implications at this stage. All action plan projects will need to be
subject to an individual EIA

6.4

Financial Considerations
£75,000 has been earmarked in year one (2018-19) from the
Regeneration service budget to prepare the acquisition and
investment strategy and two masterplans. An additional sum of
£75,000 will be required for the following financial year (2019-20) to
complete the remaining masterplans and will be considered as part
of the budget arrangements at the appropriate time.

6.5

Legal
Legal advice will be sought at all relevant stages of the delivery of
the accelerated housing programme.

6.6

Sustainability
The Local Plan and Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands
are prepared according to wider sustainability considerations.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Senior officers have been involved in the preparation of the Growth
strategy.

6.8

Risk Assessment
A detailed risk assessment will be required for each individual
project as part of the wider programme of delivery.

Dai Larner
Executive Director of Place

Web Links and
Background Papers
Name of any papers

7.

Location

Contact details

Council building or web hyperlink

Kate Halls
Regeneration Officer
Kate.halls@staffsmoorla
nds.gov.uk;
07879 848292.

Background and Detail

Page 30

Planning Context
The adopted Core Strategy (2014) states that ‘provision will be made for 6000
additional dwellings (net of demolition) to be completed in Staffordshire
Moorlands during the period 2006-2026’. This equates to 300 units per year.
Completion rates have been well below this anticipated rate, shown below.

7.1

Number of homes completed:
o 2012/13 = 96
o 2013/14 = 124
o 2014/15 = 307
o 2015/16 = 100
o 2016/17 = 128
Number of homes with planning consent not yet under construction on larger
sites (10+): 189 full planning approval and 900 outline (March 2018).
7.1.0 The emerging Local Plan requires that 6080 homes be built over the plan
period (2012-2031) at an annual rate of 320 per year. As at March 2018 there
were over 1000 homes with planning permission yet to come forward. The
accelerated housing delivery programme proposes a number of measures
with the aim of assisting and helping landowners and developers to remove
the barriers and constraints which is preventing them from starting work on
site. The priority now is therefore to support active conversion from sites with
unimplemented planning permission to the delivery of homes.
7.1.1 The government’s drive to increase the number of homes built was
demonstrated in the Housing White Paper Published (Feb 2017), Autumn
Statement (Nov 2017) and most recently proposed changes to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The government acknowledges that
although planning approvals are being granted by local authorities, they are
not being turned into completed homes. As part of the Autumn Budget the
government pledged the following package of financial assistance.





Additional funding to the Affordable Homes Programme now total £7.1
billion
Additional £2.3 billion to the Homes England Housing Infrastructure Fund
Additional £1.1 billion to the Home England Land Assembly Fund
A £630 million fund to accelerate the building of homes and small stalled
sites.

7.1.2 In March the government announced changes to the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). The major changes announced focus on;


A shake-up of viability assessments making it harder for developers to
negotiate down affordable housing contributions
 Reform of Section 106 and the Community Infrastructure Levy to make
the systems simpler and more standardised
 Introduction of Housing Delivery Targets forcing councils to oversee
delivery of new homes
 Stronger protections for the green belt

Page 31



The presumption in favour of sustainable development would be triggered
where a council cannot demonstrate a five-year housing supply "or where the
housing delivery test indicates that delivery of housing has been substantially
below the housing requirement over the previous three years"

7.1.3 The most significant of these proposed changes which was first mooted as
part of the Housing White Paper is the introduction of the Housing Delivery
Test.
A housing delivery test will impose sanctions on councils failing to meet
housebuilding targets in their local plans. The draft proposes that from
2020, the presumption in favour of sustainable development will apply where
delivery is below 75 per cent of the authority’s housing requirement. The draft
would allow councils to consider imposing planning conditions requiring
development to be brought forward within two years, unless this could hinder
viability or deliverability. It also encourages local planning authorities to
consider why major sites have not been built out when considering
subsequent planning applications.
7.2

New Home Bonus (NHB)

7.2.1 Following government announcements New Homes Bonus: Sharpening the
Incentive (Dec 2016). NHB payments will be made for four years, rather than
six years from 2018/19. From 2018/19 the government will also consider
withholding payments from local authorities that are not planning effectively,
by making positive decisions on planning applications and delivering housing
growth. To encourage more effective local planning the government will
consider withholding payments for homes that are built following an appeal.
7.2.2 A baseline for housing growth has been introduced at 0.4% below which the
Bonus will not be paid. The NHB allocation for 2017/18 is as follows:
Total units
added (from
CTB from
Oct 15-16)

Units for
reward
(Band D
equivalents,
net those
under the
baseline)

Net additions:
difference in
housing stock
on CTB from
(Oct 15 to
Oct16)
excludes empty
homes

Empty
homes
brought
back into
use

Affordabl
e units

Affordable
homes
premium:
(£) £ 350 per
unit

Year 7
payment
(£): inc.
empty
homes

Total
Payment
in year,
inc
previous
delivery

195

31

132

63

19

£5,320

£43,092

£945,571

7.2

In order increase the delivery of new homes the government is incentivising
local authorities to work with developers and land owners to actively work
together and convert unimplemented planning approvals into much needed
homes.

7.3

The Issues

7.3.1 Through comprehensive discussions with developers, landowners and other
stakeholders a range of issues and barriers to development have been
identified. These include:

Page 32



Low rates of house building due to:
o National houses builders such as Barratts, Persimmon and Taylor
Wimpey have minimum site thresholds of around 80-100 which is
significantly larger than the majority of sites available in the
Moorlands.
o Connectivity across the Staffordshire Moorlands is poor which
makes commuting less attractive and increases construction costs.
o Low levels of profit margins, leading to a limited incentive for
developers to expand into the Staffordshire Moorlands area.
o Difficult to justify S106 contributions on small sites which leads to
lack of infrastructure, education and open space investment.
 Lack of control and certainty for the Council due to lack of publically owned
land that can be developed for housing.
 Local plan not being in place- leading to uncertainty and lack of
developers’ confidence
 Difficult planning process. The appeal process is high risk, high cost and
low reward on relatively small sites and low profit margins.
 Lack of high skilled, high paid jobs within the district, affecting affordability
of new housing
 Lack of diversity in available house types, not attracting premium earners/
high skilled and young first time buyers.
7.3.2 Affordable housing is an important factor in enabling sites to come forward
either through s106 agreements or in some circumstances for 100 percent
affordable housing. There are a limited number of registered providers who
currently work in the Moorlands area so it is important to encourage a good
working relationship with them
7.3.3 In order to meet the government expectation regarding housing delivery
through the Housing Delivery Test, and with a thorough understanding of the
issues which are delaying housing growth it is proposed to commence a
programme of work with the aim of increasing housing delivery across the
Staffordshire Moorlands area.

7.4

Opportunities

7.4.1 The government is investing additional resources and incentivising local
authorities with the sole aim of stimulating the housing market to tackle the
shortfall in housing delivery. As mentioned above in para 7.1.1 the
government is prioritising and incentivising house builders to develop housing
sites. There are signs that the housing market is improving across the
Staffordshire Moorlands, a number of larger sites have been submitted for
planning approval which would indicate that developers think that demand is
sufficient.
7.4.2 Although the Council is unable to improve the connectivity of the area, we are
able to exploit the A50 corridor through Blythe Vale which is a priority
investment corridor for the Midlands Connect strategy

Page 33

7.4.3 Once the Local Plan is adopted, delivery discussions with landowners and
developers will take place to enable delivery of the newly allocated sites with a
potential to deliver around 2847 new homes.
7.4.4 Although historically the level of completions has been low across the
Staffordshire Moorlands area there are a number of indicators which would
suggest that the housing market is responding favourably. For example, there
has been an increase in the number of planning applications submitted and
the Council has had positive discussions with a number of small to medium
sized developers who have expressed interest in the Staffordshire Moorlands
area.
7.5

The Proposal
It is proposed to create a comprehensive package of measures to accelerated
housing delivery in the district through an ‘Accelerated Housing Delivery
Programme’. The following proposal demonstrates the Council’s commitment
to delivering the emerging Local Plan and maximising community benefits by
supporting developers.
1. Open for business approach to planning applications and regulatory
process
 Prepare place marketing material to promote inward investment
 Incentivise development through a streamline planning application
process
 Enhanced service delivery with customer focused approach to all
regulatory functions.
 Reduce number of planning appeals to reduce the developers risk.
2. Facilitating development on sites with un-implemented planning
approvals.
 Enable and facilitate private sector partners and developers to help
achieve an increase in the number of completions. Work with
developers and partners to understand the issues and overcome
barriers which delay development.
 Approach land owners with planning approvals and outline support
and Homes England (HE) (formally the Homes and Communities
Agency) funding available. The majority of developers across the
Moorlands area are small to medium enterprises and can lack
knowledge of the development process and or financing.
Unimplemented planning approvals on sites 10+ dwellings
 25 sites, 1,099 homes
 Leek 353, Biddulph 45, Cheadle 170, rural areas 543
 Approach Registered Providers, land agents and developers to
understand the barriers and constraints to delivery
 Work with Registered Providers to identify suitable sites for 100%
affordable housing and pursue funding bids with HE
 Work with HEto promote ‘Home Build Fund’ aimed at small sites
and small scale builders to bring forward delivery of sites

Page 34



Revise planning pages to include guidance for small site owners
and business to demystify the planning process

3. Accelerating delivery of Local Plan sites
 Once the Local Plan is submitted, start to approach owners of the
newly allocated residential sites to look at steps for delivery.
 Work with private sector land owners to prepare masterplans and
delivery options for large cluster sites identified in the emerging
Local Plan.
o Wharf Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB1)
o Tunstall Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB2)
o Mobberley Area, Cheadle (south west cluster) (local plan
policy (DSC3)
o Blythe Vale sites (local plan policy DSR1)
 In addition to the above masterplans, the following mixed use
development opportunity sites where there is significant public
sector land ownership would benefit from Council led intervention to
prepare masterplans for coordinated delivery.
o Cheadle Town Centre
o The Mill Quarter, Leek
 Following the masterplans, work with landowners and stakeholders
to initiate delivery and land assembly discussions.
 Work with stakeholders including Staffordshire County Council to
bid for funding for relevant infrastructure or viability gap (if any) as
and when appropriate.
4. Council led proactive interventions
 Consider proactive intervention by the council where appropriate to
gain more control and certainty over developments by using Council’s
resources and powers in form of assets, funding, borrowing powers,
CPO powers and skill and expertise of the staff.
 Commission consultants to prepare an investment and acquisition
strategy for the purchase of land in appropriate areas to allow direct
intervention from the Council and or its partners.
 Consider a housing delivery vehicle such as a joint venture for public
sector led delivery of a range of housing tenure and typologies.
 Work with other public sector bodies including SCC, NHS and other
public sector partners to review land assets in their ownership through
the One Public Estate Programme (OPE) and consider options for
enhanced service deliver through rationalisation of assets which may
result in surplus land for additional housing sites.
 Review all council owned land assets and consider development where
appropriate.
7.6

Approach to Delivery

7.6.1 The proposed approach is to have a range of options and actions available to
the Council to accelerate housing delivery in the District. The Council’s role

Page 35

will vary from supporting and facilitating delivery by private sector to leading
and intervening where appropriate to do so.
7.6.2 All the sites with unimplemented planning approvals are privately owned
which means that the Council is not able to control the delivery. It is
anticipated that the above package of measures will support developers by
improving the planning process, removing or easing development constraints
where possible.
7.6.3 The masterplan process on the sites identified for accelerating the Local Plan
delivery (para 7.5.3) will require varying levels of Council input and resources.
In some circumstances the Council will be the driving force for the masterplan,
where the private sector has been unable to deliver the site, or there is
significant public sector land involved, or there is a business case for Council
to get involved to maximise the community benefits. In other cases there will
be limited input on sites, where other public sector bodies or the private sector
is able to take the lead and move the site forward to delivery. The input
required will depend on many factors and these are explored in detail below
on a site by site basis.
7.6.4 It is proposed to commission an investment and acquisition strategy to
consider Council’s direct intervention in relevant areas. This work can precede
or run in parallel with the preparation of masterplans.
7.6.5 Wharf Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB1)
Parts of the site have been allocated for a mixed use development since 2007.
Despite an area Action Plan being in place, the site has historically never
come forward even though planning permissions have been approved in the
past for parts of the site. The Council will need to lead on this masterplan in
order to co-ordinate the large number of landowners both in the private and
public sector to ensure a deliverable plan is achieved and relevant
infrastructure is delivered for the site including, retail, residential and
employment uses, also meeting landowners’ aspirations and the wider
Biddulph community.
7.6.6 Tunstall Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB2)
The Victoria Business Park demonstrates an example of where the Council
lead the delivery and brought together landowners and the Homes and
Communities agency to deliver a key employment site. The Tunstall Road site
requires a similar approach to this and the Council will need to lead on the
delivery of the masterplan and land assembly to ensure the delivery of a key
employment site with some residential dwellings in Biddulph.
7.6.7 Mobberley Farm, Cheadle (south west cluster) (local plan policy (DSC3)
This is a key strategic housing site in the Local Plan which will provide new
housing (approximately 430 dwellings), associated public open space and
safeguard a route for a potential future link road between the A522 Tean Road
and A521 Brookhouse Way. A comprehensive approach to development will
require landowners to co-operate to bring the site forward. The Local Plan
states that owners will be encouraged to enter into a Land equalisation

Page 36

Agreement to ensure an equitable distribution of benefits to landowners. The
Council will need to work with the private sector owners and enable them to
prepare a coherent solution for the site.
7.6.8 Blythe Vale sites (local plan policy DSR1)
St Modwens gained full planning approval for 118 dwellings in 2017 for the
first phase of delivery on a 5.53ha section in the northwest of the wider 48.5ha
site, which is bisected by the A50 bypass. St Modwens have indicated they
will lead on the delivery and development of the masterplan for the remaining
phases. The Council will have an overarching strategic role in facilitating and
enabling delivery of the site.
In addition to the masterplan, in compliance with the of the Highways England
comments for the emerging Local Plan, there will be a requirement for the
Council to work in partnership with Staffordshire County Council, Stafford
Borough Council, East Staffordshire Borough Council, Newcastle Under Lyme
Borough Council, and Stoke-on-Trent City Council to prepare a joint
assessment of all planned developments within these areas on A50. Following
discussions with neighbouring authorities, the Council may decide to lead on
this commission to ensure the Local Plan is compliant and deliverable.
7.6.9 Cheadle Town Centre
Tape Street car park site was identified in the Cheadle town centre masterplan
(2010) as a retail and commercial development opportunity. The site hasn’t
been developed due to changes in the financial market and viability of those
uses in this location. As a central, accessible location, the site has a potential
for development with more viable mix of uses, contributing to the town centre
vitality. Staffordshire County Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council are the two key land owners and hence preparation of a joint public
sector led masterplan is considered a key step forward.
7.6.10 The Mill Quarter, Leek
The Leek Mill Quarter was identified as a key development opportunity in the
Leek Town Centre Masterplan (2013). The area includes land ownership by
major public sector partners such as Staffordshire County Council,
Staffordshire Police, Staffordshire West Midlands Community Rehabilitation
Company (Probation), and NHS North Staffordshire CCG. Most buildings in
these ownerships are either vacant or underused. There is potential to work
with adjacent private sector owners of mill buildings such as London Mill, York
Mill, Well Street and Cross Street Mils. A deliverable masterplan needs to be
prepared jointly in partnership with Staffordshire County Council and
potentially health services to shape the vision and delivery of this central town
centre development site.
In addition to the masterplan, discussion are ongoing with Historic England to
consider the heritage of mills in leek as a whole and prepare a strategy for
prioritisation of heritage assets and come up with an approach to intervention
that is deliverable and realistic. The Council can work with partners to bring all
relevant stakeholders together to agree the approach and action plan.

Page 37

7.7 Next steps:
Considering the above, a phased approach is proposed to ensure efficient use
of Council’s resources. The followings actions are proposed for the Council’s
direct intervention in accelerating the delivery of Local Plan sites:
Task

Timescale

Estimated
cost to
SMDC

Lead organisation

1

Acquisition and
2018-19
investment strategy

£15k

SMDC

2

Wharf Road
masterplan,
Biddulph

2018-19

£30k

SMDC

3

Tunstall Road
masterplan,
Biddulph

2018-19

£30k

SMDC

5

Mobberley Farm
masterplan,
Cheadle

TBC

nil

Private sector
owners

6

Blythe Vale
masterplan

TBC

nil

Private sector
owners

7

A50 impact report
+ access
infrastructure

TBC

TBC

SMDC+neighbouring
authorities+Highways
England+SCC

8

Cheadle Town
Centre masterplan

TBC

£30k

SMDC+SCC

9

Mil Quarter, Leek

TBC

£30k

SMDC+SCC

(Masterplan/ Leek
Mills strategy)

Page 38

Agenda Item 10.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
24 April 2018
TITLE:

Homelessness Strategy

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor M Bowen - Portfolio Holder for
Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks,
Countryside and Housing

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mary Walker – Head of Customer Services

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached - Appendix A – Homelessness Strategy and Action
Plan 2018- 2022

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to submit the Homelessness Strategy and Action
Plan for approval.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

To approve the Alliance wide Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan at
Appendix A.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council has a requirement under the Homelessness Act 2002 to ensure it
takes a strategic approach in dealing with the issue of homelessness. The
Alliance wide review of homelessness considers; national and local context,
implications of Welfare Reforms and Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, local
housing markets and prevention toolkit.

3.2

The review consequently identifies the following strategic priorities;





To prevent homelessness through a comprehensive range of services
Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent
homelessness
Improve the Private Rented Sector Offer
Ensure sufficient support is available to address and prevent
homelessness

Page 39

3.3

The causes of homelessness are complex, however the main reason
associated with those accepted as homeless is predominantly the loss of a
private sector tenancy.
Other major drivers of homelessness include
exclusion by parents/ family/ friends and violent or non-violent relationship
breakdown.

3.4

The timing of this strategy is particularly relevant with the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 recently enacted 3rd April 2018. There are new legal
duties to ensure meaningful support to prevent homelessness and secure
accommodation for everyone who is homeless or at risk of homelessness,
regardless of priority need.

3.5

The overall aims of this strategy are to identify how the Council will:
Provide timely, quality advice and assistance to anyone who may potentially
be threatened with homelessness
Work proactively with relevant stakeholders and housing providers to provide
a coordinated approach to tackling and preventing homelessness.
Continue to develop innovative and responsive approaches to support people
who have concerns about the stability of their current home, with prevention a
core principle.





4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The strategy contributes to the Corporate Plan 2015-19 aim of helping to
create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Option 1- Proceed with the recommendation to approve the attached
Homelessness Strategy, that has been developed in relation to appropriate
legislation and consultation with a range of stakeholders (preferred option)
Option 2- Reject the recommendations and not recommend to Executive
adoption of the Strategy. (Not recommended)

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
There are no specific implications with this report

6.2

Workforce
There are no specific implications with this report

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The report has been prepared in line with Council policies

Page 40

6.4

Financial Considerations
Delivery of the Homelessness Strategy is via a mixture of the
council’s core budget, supplementary funding from partner
organisations and Communities and Local Government. Full
financial details can be found at s.5 in Appendix A

6.5

Legal
The Homelessness Strategy has been developed in line with the
appropriate legislation and there are no specific legal implications
to this report. The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 makes
substantial amendments to existing legislation (summarised in
report s7.5)

6.6

Sustainability
There are no specific implications with this report

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Consultation has been undertaken in relation to the development of
the Homelessness Strategy. The draft has been made available on
the council’s web-site and circulated amongst a wide variety of
stakeholders.

6.8

Risk Assessment
There are no current significant risks to this report.

Mary Walker
Head of Customer Services
Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Homelessness Review
available
https://www.highpeak.gov
.uk/article/1348/HousingStrategy
and
https://www.staffsmoorlan
ds.gov.uk/article/1349/Ho
using-Strategy

Mary Walker
Head of Customer Services
mary.walker@staffsmoorland
s.gov.uk

7.

Background and Detail

7.1

The Homelessness Act 2002 places a statutory duty on local authorities to
undertake a review of homelessness in their area, and use those findings to
develop and publish a strategy to prevent homelessness, in consultation with
local partners and stakeholders. The review identifies local trends and
challenges, so that the homelessness strategy contains key priorities and
associated actions that will address challenges and set out a proactive
approach to address and prevent homelessness.

7.2

Understanding the causes of homelessness is important in order to target

Page 41

support at those areas to increase prevention. The major causes of statutory
homelessness are; loss of private rented accommodation, exclusion by
parents/ family/ friends and violent or non-violent relationship breakdown. The
loss of a private tenancy represents the biggest single cause of homelessness
and also offers a valuable option to preventing homelessness.
7.3

Poor financial situations can place households at risk of homelessness.
Positive action to mitigate the ongoing impact of welfare reforms, in particular
Universal Credit is required in order to prevent homelessness.

7.4

Homelessness applications and duties are predicted to increase, as access to
private rented accommodation remains difficult and the supply of social
housing is insufficient to meet need.

7.5

Prior to the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, local
authorities were required to establish whether households were eligible for
assistance, homeless or threatened with homelessness, and in priority need. If
also unintentionally homeless and with a local connection, households were
consequently owed the ‘main housing duty’, a duty to secure accommodation.
However non priority need households, most likely to be single people without
children or childless couples, were owed a general ‘advice and assistance’
duty only. Under the new Act there is greater emphasis on prevention activity
with new legal duties to provide meaningful help to secure accommodation to
everyone who is homeless or at risk of homelessness, regardless of priority
need. Summary of key measures within the Homelessness Reduction Act
2017;









7.6

Definition of homelessness/ threatened with homelessness (extended
from 28 to 56 days to facilitate earlier prevention)
Duty to provide advisory services (general duty expanded to include
specific and targeted information and advice for particular groups, who are at
increased risk of becoming homeless)
New duties to undertake Assessments and Personal Housing Plans
(PHPs) (An Assessment considers homelessness circumstances, housing and
support needs. A ‘Personalised Housing Plan’ develops actions to be
undertaken by customers and the council to try and ensure accommodation is
retained and/or secured to prevent or relieve homelessness).
The new prevention duty (If a household is eligible and threatened with
homelessness within 56 days, we must during this time take reasonable steps
to help to retain or secure alternative accommodation)
The new duty to relieve homelessness (If homelessness occurs there is
duty to ‘relieve’ homelessness for a further 56 days)
Right to Review (additional review stages)
Public duty ‘to refer’ (Specified public authorities from 1st October 2018 will
have a new legal duty to notify local authorities if they come into contact with
someone they think may be homeless or at risk of becoming homeless)
The effectiveness of partnership work with statutory, voluntary and third sector
agencies is considered key to the delivery of new duties, to ensure
households’ needs are met and that they are assisted as they work through

Page 42

Personalised Housing Plans. The strategy reflects the new duties and informs
the best use of available resources.
7.7

The strategy sets out the strategic direction and priorities to address and
prevent homelessness across the Alliance over the next 5 years. The key
strategic priorities and associated aims are;
1. To prevent homelessness through a comprehensive range of services





Ensure all households understand the housing options that are available to
them by providing high quality service
Implement the Homelessness Reduction Act
Develop positive housing pathways for young people and vulnerable adults
with complex needs
Continuously improve the homelessness prevention toolkit. There will be focus
on enhancing partnership work through the development of agreements that
set out and facilitate agreed best practice and exploring funding opportunities
in order to maintain and enhance services. There will be also be focus on
addressing the main causes of homelessness; helping households remain
together where it is safe with mediation and supporting access to appropriate
services, support and accommodation for those experiencing domestic abuse.
2. Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent
homelessness









Increase the supply of affordable housing and maximise the use of existing
housing
Ensure that repossession is the last resort
Minimise use of temporary accommodation
Consider options for single people (including those aged under 35 years) and
seek to address the gap in relation to young persons supported
accommodation in the Staffordshire Moorlands through alternatives such as
Nightstop.
Maintain supported accommodation options and consider the impact of
changing funding arrangements for supported accommodation.
Ensure vulnerable and homeless households are appropriately prioritised on
the housing registers
3. Improve the Private Rented Sector Offer

In order to achieve this we will provide advice and initiatives to support both
tenants and landlords;
 Deliver a ‘call before you serve’ early intervention landlord service pilot
 Improve property & management standards through Landlord Accreditation
Schemes, actively enforcing, establishing Landlord Forums consulting with
landlords and building staff capacity to address illegal eviction
 Improve access to the private sector by commissioning services relating to
both the Access to the Private Rented Sector and Single Persons Housing
Projects, to secure provision of pre-tenancy training and tenancy support.

Page 43




Review policies and procedures relating to Rent Deposit Bond Schemes and
Prevention Funds
Explore schemes that facilitate affordable shared accommodation

4. Ensure sufficient
homelessness







7.8

support

is

available

to

address

and

prevent

Reduce rough sleeping
Mitigate the impacts of welfare reforms including Universal Credit through
money, debt and budgeting support, digital assistance, stronger links with
Credit Unions and work with agencies to increase access and options for
employment opportunities.
Ensure that vulnerable people can access support around various issues
where it may impact upon the ability to maintain a home. This will include
work to address the gap in tenancy support and access to furniture and white
goods within the Staffordshire Moorlands.
Improve support needs data collection, from Assessments and HCLIC
monitoring, which can inform understanding and service commissioning
To ensure that the strategy remains effective the action plan will be flexible to
change and will be reviewed and developed with the Homelessness Forums.

Page 44

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
and
High Peak Borough Council

Draft Homelessness Strategy
2018-2022

Page 45

Introduction
What is homelessness?

Page
1
2

Part 1: Homelessness Strategy

2 - 11

3.0
4.0
5.0
5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5
5.6
6.0
7.0

Summary of key review findings and identified gaps in provision
Strategic Priorities
Resources available to tackle and prevent homelessness
Homelessness Prevention Grant
Second Homes Council Tax
Discretionary Housing Payments
New Burdens funding
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
Accessing external funding sources
How the strategy will be implemented and monitored
Consultation

2-4
4-6
6 - 10
6-8
6–8
8-9
9
9 – 10
10
10
10 - 11

Appendix 1

Action Plan

12 - 21

1.0
2.0

Page 46

1.0 Introduction
Welcome to our homelessness review and homelessness strategy. The Homelessness
Strategy represents the Councils’ ongoing commitment to tackle and prevent homelessness
and to work in partnership to offer appropriate services.
The Homelessness Act 2002 places a statutory duty on local authorities to undertake a
review of homelessness in their area, and use those findings to develop and publish a
strategy to prevent homelessness, in consultation with local partners and stakeholders. In
2017 we commenced a review of homelessness across the Councils’ areas. The
Homelessness Review provides an assessment of;
 The levels and likely future levels of homelessness
 The activities that are carried out which prevent homelessness, secure
accommodation and provide support to people who are or may become homeless
 The resources available to carry out these activities
The review identifies key trends and local challenges set against the wider national context,
so that the Homelessness Strategy effectively sets out a responsive approach to prevent
homelessness and provide support to people who are homeless, or at risk of becoming
homeless. The homelessness strategy contains key strategic priorities and associated aims
and actions that set out the approach to address and prevent homelessness and frame the
work of the Housing Advice Service.
The timing of this strategy is particularly relevant as the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
is due to come into force 3rd April 2018 and represents the biggest change to homelessness
legislation in over a decade. There are new legal duties to ensure meaningful support to
prevent homelessness and secure accommodation for everyone who is homeless or at risk
of homelessness, regardless of whether they are in priority need.
The previous 2012 Homelessness Strategies identified the following strategic priorities;
 Prevent homelessness and sustain tenancies
 Work in partnership to prevent homelessness
 Mitigate the impacts of Welfare Reforms and the Localism Act
 Increase the availability of affordable housing
In the intervening years there has been considerable progress to develop timely and relevant
services to prevent homelessness and 1721 preventions have been achieved.
The overall aims of this strategy are to identify how the Council will:
 Provide timely, quality advice and assistance to anyone who may potentially be threatened
with homelessness
 Work proactively with relevant stakeholders and housing providers to provide a
coordinated approach to tackling and preventing homelessness
 Continue to develop innovative and responsive approaches to support people who have
concerns about the stability of their current home, with prevention a core principle
This strategy is developed in consultation with a broad cross section of stakeholders
including housing, service and support providers and the voluntary sector. To ensure that the
strategy remains effective the action plan will be flexible to change and will be reviewed and
developed with the Homelessness Forums.
This document is divided into two parts:
Part 1 the Homelessness Strategy
Part 2 contains the findings of the Homelessness Review (for the purposes of committee
reporting part 2 is not included but is available on the intranet)

Page 47

1

2.0 What is homelessness?
Homeless people are not a homogenous group, their needs and life experiences rarely
follow the same path. Homelessness relates to not having a settled or safe home. The most
visible form of homelessness is rough sleeping. Homelessness relates to having no or
limited rights to remain, insecure lodgings, ‘sofa surfing’ or threat of repossession.
Accommodation may be unsuitable or unsafe for a variety of reasons such as severe
overcrowding, unsanitary conditions or domestic abuse.
The statutory definition of homelessness is defined by the Housing Act 1996 s.175: A person
is homeless if they have no accommodation in the UK or elsewhere which is available for
them (and normally residing family members) to occupy and which they have legal right to
occupy. A person will also be homeless if they have accommodation but cannot secure entry
to it, or where accommodation that is a moveable structure (such as a caravan of a house
boat) does not have a permitted place in order to provide accommodation. A person who has
accommodation is to be treated as homeless where it would not be reasonable to continue
to occupy.
Many, as part of everyday life, face experiences or triggers that could lead to homelessness
such as a relationship breakdown or the ending of a tenancy. In most cases individuals are
able to find suitable accommodation using their own resources. But for others these events
can lead to homelessness; either because they lack the resources to tackle their immediate
challenge - for example enough money for a deposit; or because they have underlying
problems which make it hard for them to deal with their situation. There is a general
consensus that homelessness is ‘more than a roof’, goes beyond simply being ‘a housing
issue’ and that there are often intrinsic links with poor health, social exclusion, low income
and welfare reform. It can be difficult to separate causes from symptoms. Homelessness
brings uncertainty and has a detrimental affect on individuals, families and society. It can
affect health and well being, ability to maintain education, employment and social networks.
Homelessness prevention as part of an ‘invest to save’ approach saves cost to the Council
(temporary accommodation, homelessness services), broader public sector services (health,
social services, crime) and poor outcomes for potentially vulnerable residents.

-----------------------------------------Part 1: Homelessness Strategy-------------------------------------3.0 Summary of review findings and identified gaps in provision
Changes within homeless legislation could have a huge impact on the services we provide.
Homelessness applications and duties are predicted to increase, as access to private rented
accommodation remains difficult and the supply of social housing is insufficient to meet
need.
The number of private sector residents facing eviction is increasing as private landlords exit
the housing benefit market, due to the impact of welfare reforms that reduce available
benefit income, alongside demand from working households who cannot afford to buy.
Homelessness levels are rising in High Peak and a reduction in support services is having
an impact across the Council, more people are presenting with complex needs, often
including a substance misuse or offending histories who are increasingly challenging to
assist. They may be excluded from social housing registers and private and social landlords
are becoming more risk averse. The resolution of housing need can often only be addressed
with help from other agencies to support individuals’ with their health needs. A greater

Page 48

2

emphasis on support and partnership working is needed to ensure that any housing
provision is sustainable.
Understanding the causes of homelessness is crucial in order to target support at those
areas to increase prevention. The major causes of statutory homelessness are; loss of
private rented accommodation, exclusion by parents/ family/ friends and violent or nonviolent relationship breakdown.
The loss of a private tenancy represents the biggest single cause of homelessness and also
offers a valuable option to preventing homelessness. The Council shall work proactively with
landlords to improve property and management standards in this sector and develop its role
as an important provider of homelessness prevention services. Vital to address
homelessness and accommodation need is action to develop the Private Rented Sector
Offer that includes advice and initiatives to support both tenants and landlords.
Homelessness is least likely to occur amongst persons 65+. The older population is
increasing but not homelessness; this may be an issue in the future.
There is a need to explore advice and support available to people from abroad who may
become ineligible households to ensure an effective response should this arise.
To build links that help to address the care and support needs of vulnerable customers,
partnership work is necessary to help customers achieve sustainable and healthy living
solutions. Effective partnership work with statutory, voluntary and third sector agencies is
considered key to the delivery of early prevention, new homelessness duties and the
securing of funding opportunities to maintain and enhance services. The effectiveness of
operational casework can be improved through strategic development of joint working
agreements that set out and facilitate agreed best practices.
Levels of rough sleeping are low, however ongoing work is required to ensure an effective
response. Ongoing outreach service provision must support the No Second Night Out vision
and partnership working is required in order for health and support needs to be addressed to
facilitate a move away from the streets as soon as possible into sustainable housing
solutions. To support this, ensure access to statutory homelessness assessments and
assistance, and suitable temporary accommodation provision in severe weather, there is a
need to develop effective partnership working through a joint working protocol around tent
provision within High Peak.
Key to preventing tenancy failure and repeat homelessness is the availability of sufficient
support. In the Staffordshire Moorlands there is a gap in generic tenancy support provision
and access to furniture and white goods is also difficult. Going forward there is opportunity to
improve support needs data collection, from Assessments and HCLIC monitoring, which can
inform understanding and service commissioning.
Poor financial situations can place households at risk of homelessness. Positive action to
mitigate the ongoing impact of welfare reforms including Universal Credit is required in order
to prevent homelessness. There is a clear need for ongoing money, debt and budgeting
support, digital support, stronger links with Credit Unions and work with agencies to increase
access and options for access to employment.
It is important to ensure that suitable accommodation is available for those that are or may
become homelessness. Here there is scope to work with Registered Providers around the
implementation of flexible or fixed term tenancies, nomination agreements, new build
affordable housing supply, the early identification of potential evictions from social tenancies,
also the review of allocation policies to ensure that homeless and vulnerable households are
appropriately prioritised and mutual exchange options. It will be important to consider the

Page 49

3

implications of government proposals to change supported accommodation funding from
2020 and in the interim undertake further work to improve performance monitoring in relation
to schemes receiving Intensive Housing Management funding and continue work to support
‘move on’ from supported accommodation. The use of temporary accommodation is rising in
High Peak and further Alliance wide work is needed to understand and implement changes
to minimise the need for temporary accommodation. It will also be necessary to consider the
implications of government proposals to change supported accommodation funding from
2020 in relation to Staffordshire Moorlands temporary accommodation provision.
Younger people appear to be increasingly marginalised. Where a family is unwilling to
accommodate the housing advice service will work with families to come to a sustainable
solution. Building capacity around mediation and home visits can help households remain
together where it is safe. However by the time help is sought however, the position can often
be untenable. Assistance is therefore given to find alternative accommodation however this
can be challenging, for instance there is a lack of supported accommodation for young
people in the Staffordshire Moorlands and exploring alternatives such as Nightstop would be
beneficial. There is also a need to ensure young people and service users generally have
realistic perceptions of homelessness, housing options (including the availability of social
housing) and support services, which we can begin to address through improved information
and a young persons housing pathway.
The Council will continue to develop a comprehensive range of available prevention services
and initiatives. There is also opportunity to develop customer feedback methods to inform
and improve service delivery.
4.0 Strategic Priorities
The homelessness strategy 2012 had the following key strategic priorities:
 Preventing homelessness and sustaining tenancies
 Working in partnership to prevent homelessness
 Mitigating the impacts of Welfare Reforms and the Localism Act
 Increasing the availability of affordable housing
This strategy continues to support these objectives. The following strategic priorities have
been developed following consideration of review information related to national and local
contexts, relevant guidance and consultation with stakeholders. The strategic priorities
provide a sound framework to achieve Council ambitions for forthcoming years. The
strategic priorities together with a summary of aims to deliver them are set out below.

Strategic Priority 1: To prevent homelessness through a comprehensive range
of services


Ensure all households understand the housing options that are available to them by
providing high quality service



Implement the Homelessness Reduction Act



Develop positive housing pathways for young people and vulnerable adults with
complex needs



Continuously improve the homelessness prevention toolkit. There will be focus on
enhancing partnership work through the development of agreements that set out and

Page 50

4

facilitate agreed best practice and exploring funding opportunities in order to maintain
and enhance services. There will be also be focus on addressing the main causes of
homelessness; helping households remain together where it is safe with mediation
and supporting access to appropriate services, support and accommodation for those
experiencing domestic abuse.

Strategic Priority 2: Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and
prevent homelessness


Increase the supply of affordable housing and maximise the use of existing housing



Ensure that repossession is the last resort



Minimise use of temporary accommodation



Consider options for single people (including those aged under 35 years) and seek to
address the gap in relation to young persons supported accommodation



Maintain supported accommodation options and consider the impact of changing
funding arrangements for supported accommodation.



Ensure vulnerable and homeless households are appropriately prioritised on the
housing registers

Strategic Priority 3: Improve the Private Rented Sector Offer
In order to achieve this we will provide advice and initiatives to support both tenants and
landlords;


Deliver a ‘call before you serve’ early intervention landlord service pilot



Improve property & management standards through Landlord Accreditation
Schemes, actively enforcing, establishing Landlord Forums consulting with landlords
and building staff capacity to address illegal eviction



Improve access to the private sector by commissioning services relating to both the
Access to the Private Rented Sector and Single Persons Housing Projects, to secure
provision of pre-tenancy training and tenancy support.



Review policies and procedures relating to Rent Deposit Bond Schemes and
Prevention Funds



Explore schemes that facilitate affordable shared accommodation

Strategic Priority 4: Ensure sufficient support is available to address and prevent
homelessness


Reduce rough sleeping

Page 51

5






Mitigate the impacts of welfare reforms including Universal Credit through money,
debt and budgeting support, digital assistance, stronger links with Credit Unions and
work with agencies to increase access and options for employment opportunities.
Ensure that vulnerable people can access support around various issues where it
may impact upon the ability to maintain a home. This will include work to address the
gap in tenancy support and access to furniture and white goods within the
Staffordshire Moorlands.
Improve support needs data collection, from Assessments and HCLIC monitoring,
which can inform understanding and service commissioning

5.0 Resources available to tackle and prevent homelessness
The Council has invested resources from a range of funding streams into activities which
have contributed to preventing and addressing homelessness and supporting vulnerable
people in housing need. Our approach to tackling homelessness is based upon an ‘invest to
save’ principle, through which services that meet strategic priorities and actively prevent
homelessness are provided with funding, with the clear intention of reducing costs. Budgets
are reviewed each year as part of the Council’s budgetary process. The Council will continue
to work with partners to access alternative and review existing funding sources, with
opportunities to implement services through partnerships, across multiple local authority
areas or at County or sub regional level considered. The following is a summary of the most
significant funding sources;
5.1 Homelessness Prevention Grant
Local authorities receive annual Homelessness Prevention Grant from the Department of
Communities and Local Government. The Government confirmed their continued support to
maintain and protect the Homeless Prevention Grant funding for local authorities in the
November 2015 Spending Review. They have committed funding through the Local
Government Finance Settlement announced for the 2016- 2020 financial period. Across the
Council the grant is used on funding for homelessness services; staff, activities and projects
to prevent homelessness.
5.2 Second Homes Council Tax (HPBC only)
An agreement was reached with Derbyshire County Council to fund a programme of projects
from the increased Council Tax on second homes (fig 1). Since the programme began
HPBC has been able to support several important projects. Projects funded through
Derbyshire County Council Second Homes Council Tax funding allocations must
demonstrate links to Derbyshire County Council’s Health and Adult Care priorities. These
priorities focus on vulnerable adults and include domestic violence, learning and physical
disability, mental health, older people and those with substance misuse issues. The 2018/19
funding programme, set out in fig 2b approved by DCC Cabinet members.
Fig 1: Derbyshire County Council Second Homes Council Tax Funding Allocations
District and Borough Councils
Allocation 2018/19
Amber Valley
£80,000
Derbyshire Dales
£309,000
High Peak
£115,000
South Derbyshire
£62,000
Total
£566,000

Figs 2a&b summarise the 2018/19 schemes proposed to be supported by Homelessness
Prevention Grant and Second Homes Council Tax.

Page 52

6

Fig 2a: Staffordshire Moorlands 2018/19 proposed allocation
Project name
Service Description

Rough Sleeper
Service
Homelessness
Prevention Fund
Single Persons
Housing Project

Money and Debt
Advice
‘Call before serve’
scheme*
Total

Existing Projects
Rough sleeper outreach support service
Financial assistance to those at risk of homelessness to
enable households to retain or secure accommodation
Homelessness prevention service for single under 35 years
threatened with homelessness. Providing pre tenancy
training, support to access shared accommodation and
tenancy support
Generalist and specialist money and debt advice to home
owners or tenants at risk of losing their home
New Projects
Early intervention landlord service

Homeless
Prevention
Grant
up to £6,000
4,000
24,815

7,500

6,000
48,310.00

*‘Call before you serve’ campaign
A pilot ‘call before you serve’ initiative is proposed for an initial 1 year trail period during
2018/19. Considered good practice in relation to the Private Rented Sector Offer, a
dedicated line for private sector working will made available. Through promotion and
marketing the initiative will encourage landlords who are experiencing issues with their
tenancies / tenants to make contact as early as possible before they actually serve a legal
notice to end the tenancy. The initiative will be led by a separate service with private sector
expertise who will investigate what measures can be introduced to re-stabilise the tenancy
as part of collaborative approach with the housing advice service. The loss of a private
sector is the largest, most common cause of homelessness. There are many far reaching
benefits of this project including:
 Alleviation of early intervention workload for housing advice officers, alternative main
point of contact for landlords in the first instance.
 Over the life of the pilot the project will aim to stop 10 landlords issuing section 21
notices to households in each of the partner Local Authority areas saving significant
amounts of money being spent of costly interim accommodation and bed & breakfast.
 Recognised as a great example of good practice both in terms of cross-boundary
working and ‘upstream prevention work’ by the DCLG specialist advisor team.
 Increased number of positive homelessness preventions
 Increased signposting, uptake & promotion of Local Authority offered services such
as rent deposit bond schemes.
 Increased networking among landlords with property portfolios that may be available,
therefore potentially increasing private sector supply and homelessness prevention.
 A dedicated stand-alone and impartial advisory service for landlords to access
support and guidance.
 Cross boundary working in this way also allows for best practice to be shared and
improvements to partner Local Authority services to be made.

Page 53

7

Fig 2b: High Peak 2018/19 proposed allocation
Project Name
Service Description

Access to the
Private Rented
Sector Project
Debt Advice
Project

Meeting the
accommodation
needs of people
with disabilities
Support for
Families in Crisis
Project

Domestic Abuse
Project

Vulnerable adults
affected by welfare
reforms

Action Housing
Project
Move On Officer

Housing Related
Support Services
Programme

Prevention Fund

‘Call before serve’
scheme*
Total

Existing Projects
Provides a combination of services to
vulnerable households. Including rent bond,
tenancy support and pre tenancy training
A specialist money, debt and budgeting
advice project delivered to households that
may be at risk of homelessness due to
debt, rent or mortgage arrears
Grants to achieve the Lifetime Homes
standard in new build affordable homes or
adaptations through additional Disabled
Facility Grants
Good News Family Care provides access to
suitable accommodation for vulnerable
women and families who are homeless and
have domestic abuse or drug and alcohol
support needs
This project enables Crossroads Derbyshire
to provide a specialist service and
supported accommodation to younger
women (under 25 years) to address issues
of domestic abuse
Financial assistance for vulnerable
households affected by welfare reforms
with the associated costs of for instance
downsizing to avoid future arrears,
assistance with removals or rent arrears.
Supported accommodation for high risk
offenders. This project was previously
funded through DCC but funding reduced.
A Derbyshire wide project to help
vulnerable people leaving supported
accommodation to move-on into
independent living.
This project will contribute towards funding
a number of DCC schemes including:
Housing Related Support Services for
people with learning disabilities, mental
health problems and support services for
older people.
Financial assistance to those at risk of
homelessness to enable households to
retain or secure accommodation
New Projects
Early intervention landlord service

Second
Homes
Council
Tax

Homeless
Grant

Total

-

53,995

53,995

10,000

15,000

25,000

45,000

-

45,000

20,000

-

20,000

20,000

-

20,000

5,000

-

5,000

3,000

419.50

3419.5

2,000

-

2,000

10,000

-

10,000

5,000

5,000

6,000

6,000

115,000

Page 54

80,414.5

195,414.5

8

5.3 Discretionary Housing Payments
The Council provides short term (up to 13 weeks) financial support in the form of DHPs to
some people to help meet the shortfall in their housing costs. Indications are that there are a
number of households claiming this award to sustain their accommodation that would
potentially be at risk of homelessness if they did not receive these payments as their
accommodation would become unaffordable. The numbers of applications and awards has
increased overtime (fig 3a&b). Funding is predominantly provided in relation to under
occupancy and expenditure in relation to the benefit cap is increasing in recent years.
Further work can be done with the council revenues and benefits service to ensure that DHP
is effectively targeted to prevent homelessness and explore the use of funding to help
secure a move to alternative accommodation (i.e. cash rent deposits).
Fig 3a: High Peak DHP allocation
Year
2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013
Applications
151
114
224
Received
DHP Awards
99
71
155
Awards
52
43
69
Refused
Government
£30,005
£38,681
£77,412
Contribution
Amount Paid
£31,913
£20,445
£54,641
*Amounts Paid include DHP for UC Claimants
Fig 3b: Staffordshire Moorlands DHP allocation
Year
2010/2011
2011/2012
2012/2013
Applications
59
116
142
Received
DHP Awards 57
59
80
Awards
2
57
62
Refused
Government
£11,314
£18,068
£36,293
Contribution
Amount Paid £12,241
£17,121
£32,568
*Amounts Paid include DHP for UC Claimants



2013/2014

2014/2015

2015/2016

*2016/2017

493

422

392

370

278

247

221

225

215

175

171

145

£106,783

£103,546

£71,857

£96,264

£106,670

£106,072

£64,917

£94,127

2013/2014

2014/2015

2015/2016

*2016/17

431

422

380

326

197

179

170

180

234

243

210

146

£91,836

£83,089

£67,337

£81,271

£82,269

£83,070

£52,020

£76,504

New Funding

5.4 New Burdens funding
Government promised over £61m of new burdens funding to help local authorities implement
the new Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 duties (s.8.4). Council allocations are shown in
fig 4. This funding facilitates a new post commenced March 2018, which supports the
introduction of the new HRAct and the rollout of Universal Credit (s.8.5).
Fig 4: New Burdens funding
Authority
Allocation
2017/18
High Peak
£17,241
Staffordshire Moorlands
£19,277

Allocation
2018/19
£15,793
£17,657

Allocation
2019/20
£20,366
£25,122

Total allocation
£53,400
£62,056

Government has also provided local authorities with £9,202 an equally distributed share of £3
million to support the upgrade of IT data systems to monitor the impact of the HRAct.

Page 55

9

5.5 Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (FHSG)
Government has provided local authorities with a new ring fenced grant to support
authorities to address homelessness and help those at risk of homelessness.
Fig 5: FHSG funding
Authority
High Peak
Staffordshire Moorlands

Allocation 2017/18
£67,451
£56,429

Allocation 2018/19
£71,721
£61,853

Allocation 2019/20
£78,488
£67,819

5.6 Accessing external funding sources
The Council proactively works with partners to identify funding sources that will add to our
homelessness prevention toolkit and improve outcomes for people in homeless and housing
need. Successful partnerships include;
DCLG 2016/20 Rough Sleeping Programme
Government launched a £40 million funding programme to prevent and tackle homelessness
and rough sleeping in October 2016. A successful application submitted for 9 Derbyshire
and 3 Staffordshire local authority areas (including SMDC and HPBC) secured funding to
expand upon an existing Derby City Mission project, to explore and build capacity within the
voluntary, faith and community sectors to deliver homelessness services.
DCLG Strengthening Accommodation Based Specialist Domestic Abuse Services
Successful funding applications with Crossroads Derbyshire, ARCH North Staffs and North
Staffordshire local authorities to support domestic abuse refuge provision.
DCLG Help for Single Homeless
Successful funding application with Stoke on Trent CC, Newcastle under Lyme BC, Stafford
BC and SSOTP to expand an existing Community Matron service.
6.0 How the strategy will be implemented and monitored
SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, Time bound) actions in the Action Plan
(Appendix 1) ensure that progress in the delivery of strategy priorities can be monitored. The
action plan will frame the work of the Housing Advice service and will be reviewed annually
to ensure that local need is addressed and any local, regional or national changes are taken
into account. Additional actions may be developed and existing actions changed or updated.
These reviews will be carried out with key stakeholders and members of the homelessness
forums that have assisted in the development of the strategy.
Local performance indicators regular monitor progress in relation to homelessness
applications, prevention and the use of temporary accommodation.
7.0 Consultation
We have involved our partners during the development of our review and strategy. Key
stakeholders with an interest in homelessness were asked to provide feedback about their
opinions and experiences of homelessness, validity of review information, emerging strategic
priorities and actions. The purpose was to share our evidence and seek further information
from our partners which may strengthen our review and strategy.
The review of evidence and production of this strategy was launched at a Homelessness
Conference of the HASF Homelessness Forum, where discussions were held on what the

Page 56

10

key priorities could be, what prevention works well and what more could be done to improve
prevention outcomes.
A summary of consultation feedback;
 General comments regarding format, layout and language within the document.
 Agreement that information in the review and summary (section 3.0) is ‘fully’ accurate.
 Support and agreement for the identified strategic priorities.
 Importance of specific action relating to; 1) partnership working around the HRAct and
early referral to support providers 2) links with the private rented sector involving
consultation with landlords around the nature of an ‘improved’ offer and marketing around
‘call before you serve’ campaign 3) review of models to facilitate sharing schemes 4)
broadening support remit to include a focus on ‘coaching’
 Support expressed for the HRAct and earlier intervention
 Concerns expressed regarding the potential impact of welfare reforms upon young
people, however during the consultation period the position changed with a government
announcement that regulations will be amended so that all 18 to 21 -year-olds will be
entitled to claim support for housing costs in Universal Credit
 The importance of partnership work was highlighted, specifically to involve advice
agencies in planning support for homelessness and getting money advice to
households who are financially vulnerable which requires a high degree of integration

Page 57

11

Strategic Priority 1: To prevent homelessness by providing a comprehensive range of services
Actions

Ensure all
households
understand the
housing options
that are available to
them by providing
high quality service.

Information available re:
-preventing homelessness, securing
accommodation if homeless and the
rights of those who are homeless or
threatened with homelessness
- any help or support (provided by
us or any other local organisations)
that is available for those who are
homeless or likely to become
homeless as well as how to access
that help
-specific to the particular groups
specified in s179(2) who are at
increased risk of becoming
homeless and self-help information
Develop triage approach to facilitate
informed and effective use of
interview time

Page 58

Aims

Provide quality advice by telephone,
in person, supported by IT solutions

How/ Planned Activity

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Clear, accessible, up to date
self-help information on the
Councils website

Review web page hits

Information provided on a self
serve basis as part of initial
homelessness enquiry/ referral
prior to interview

Information collated
through self serve facility

Review available toolkits/ good
practice
IT homelessness module
developed to effectively facilitate
PHPs

Identified Resource
Existing

Existing

Existing

Lead(s)
Housing
Strategy
Officer

April 2018

Senior
Housing
Manager

Reviewed
annually

Housing
Strategy
Officer
Senior
Housing
Manager

Ongoing staff supervision,
training and procedures updates

Develop methods to collect
customer feedback to inform and
improve service delivery

Consideration of virtual interview
options
Work with customer services to
develop approach to customer
feedback

Timescale

Reviewed every
6 months to
ensure
information up
to date

April 2018

Reviewed
annually

Feedback mechanisms in
place
Feedback informs &
improves service delivery.

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

12

Strategic Priority 1: To prevent homelessness by providing a comprehensive range of services

Aims

Actions

How/ Planned Activity

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Partner organisations provide
quality advice relevant to customer
needs

Communications with partners
through Homelessness Forums

Meeting minutes

Explore advice and support
available to people from abroad who
may become ineligible households
to ensure an effective response

Explore guidance and
benchmark with local authorities

Clear, relevant information
available

Page 59

Ensure realistic perceptions of
housing options (including
availability of social housing),
homelessness and knowledge of
support services

Identified Resource
Existing & shared use
of partners resources
(i.e. training)

Develop procedures and up to
date accessible website
information
Clear, accessible, up to date
self-help information on the
Councils website

Lead(s)

Timescale

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Housing
Strategy
Officer

End 2018

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Annual lettings
information
published

Senior
Housing
Manager.
Housing
Strategy
Officer

Ongoing – key
aspects in place
rd
by 3 April

Reviewed every
6 months

Monitor & publish social lettings
information
Work to deliver positive housing
pathways
Consider opportunities to
provide advice and information
to young people through schools
& mediation.

Implement
Homelessness
Reduction Act

Continue to deliver and develop
Implementation Plan

Contact all single under 35s on
SM housing register to raise
awareness of SPHP services.
Work with local authority
services, stakeholders, and
partners (statutory, voluntary
and third sector) to deliver the
Plan

Greater prevention
Delivery monitored by
Transformation Board

Existing

13

Strategic Priority 1: To prevent homelessness by providing a comprehensive range of services

Aims

Actions

Develop Positive
Pathways

Consideration of best practice and
work with partners and partnerships
to develop Pathways for young
people and vulnerable adults with
complex needs

Improve prevention
toolkit

Good practice and projects
developed

Page 60

Effective projects commissioned
with SLA performance monitoring
Customers signposted to relevant
organisations and initiatives for help
& support

Enhanced partnership working

How/ Planned Activity

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Identified Resource

Lead(s)

Timescale

Partnership work with
Derbyshire County and other
partners (statutory, voluntary
and third sector) and existing
partnerships (i.e. DHOG) to
deliver.
Guidance and good practice
considered

Better joint working and
outcomes for these client
groups – increased
prevention

Existing &
Transformational
Challenge Fund

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Homelessness prevention
with best use of existing
resources

Existing

Reviewed
annually

As stipulated within SLAs and
annually as part of budget
setting process.

Performance meets targets

Existing

Senior
Housing
Manager.
Housing
Strategy
Officer
Housing
Strategy
Officer

Housing
Strategy
Officer

In place for 1
October 2018
when duty
commences

Maintain up to date information
on available services
Develop cost benefit analysis
(NPSS toolkit)
Develop means (including IT
solutions) to facilitate early
referrals through the s213B Duty
to Refer

Homelessness preventions
with best use of existing
resources

Early intervention &
homelessness prevention.

Development of joint working/
data sharing agreements, which
set out and facilitate agreed best
practice.
Work with public health services.

Existing and new
funding opportunities

Reviewed
annually

st

Reviewed
annually
Customers achieve
sustainable and healthy
living solutions

Funding opportunities secured
to maintain and enhance
services

14

Strategic Priority 1: To prevent homelessness by providing a comprehensive range of services

Aims

Actions
Help households remain together
where it is safe with mediation

Help those experiencing domestic
abuse to have access appropriate
services, support and
accommodation
Review use of Prevention Fund to
ensure resources effectively utilised

Page 61

Review use of DHP to ensure
resources effectively targeted to
prevent homelessness and explore
options to help secure a move to
alternative accommodation (i.e.
cash rent deposits)

How/ Planned Activity
Build staff capacity to address
through training, Home Visits,
and ongoing work with social
services support.
Work with County Council and
partners to address need
Sanctuary Scheme provision
Work good practice and housing
advice service to develop and
implement Council wide policy

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Identified Resource

Lead(s)

Timescale

Homelessness prevented
and moves in a planned
way rather than crisis

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Range of appropriate
services, support and
accommodation in place
(including refuge provision)
Homelessness Prevented

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Existing

Senior Benefit
Officer.
Senior
Housing
Manager.
Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed
annually

Consider guidance and good
practice
Work with housing benefit
service to develop DHP policy
and implement

Strategic Priority 2: Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent homelessness

Aims
Increase the supply
of affordable
housing and
maximise the use
of existing housing

Actions
Work with developers and RPs to
increase new build affordable
housing

How/ Planned Activity
Through planning, regeneration
services and revision of the
Housing Strategy

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Identified
Resource

Number of new build
affordable properties (PI)

Homes England
grant funding, S106
and Right to Buy
receipts

Lead(s)

Timescale

Regeneration
Manager

Ongoing activity
reviewed annually.

Housing
Strategy Officer

Housing Strategy in
place end 2018.

15

Strategic Priority 2: Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent homelessness

Aims

Actions
Support empty homes work,
particularly supporting growth of
rented sector

How/ Planned Activity
Delivery of recent Empty Homes
Strategy and cross service
working group

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure
Empty Homes brought
back into use
Transformation Board
review progress

Work with RPs in relation to
implementation of flexible/ fixed
term tenancies

Page 62
Ensure that
repossession is the
last resort

Review & establish nomination
agreements

Work with RPs to establish
whether adopting, and if so,
considerations/ actions/
homelessness prevention
opportunities upon tenancy end
Work with RPs to review existing
& establish nomination
agreements (50%)

Review mutual exchange options

Reviewed against best practice

Review HPBC eviction processes,
including support available to
customers at eviction warrant stage

Consider guidance and good
practice and work closely with
rent collection team and Senior
Housing Manger
Work closely with RPs to review
existing & establish joint working
arrangements/ protocols

Enable early identification and
proactive prevention of potential
evictions from social tenancies

Review prevention options available
to Owner Occupiers

Review available good practice/
initiatives, equity release
schemes.

Nomination agreements
agreed and in place
Nominations monitored
annually (LAHs return)
Clear information
available about available
options/ initiatives

Identified
Resource

Lead(s)

Timescale

Existing skills within
are being used to
identify and map the
location of empty
homes

Housing
Strategy Officer

Existing resource

Housing
Strategy Officer

Empty Property
Strategy in place
end 2017.
Progress reviewed
Transformation
Board
Reviewed annually

Existing resource

Housing
Strategy Officer

Reviewed annually

Existing resource

Senior Housing
Manager.
Housing
Strategy Officer
Senior Housing
Manager

Reviewed annually

Existing resource

Housing
Strategy Officer

Reviewed annually

Existing

Housing
Strategy Officer

Existing resource

Formal arrangements in
place & operating.
Closer joint working, with
referrals facilitating
earlier intervention made
to HAS.
Increased homelessness
prevention.
Customer information
available

Reviewed annually

16

Strategic Priority 2: Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent homelessness

Aims

Actions
Respond to ongoing need for
money, debt & budgeting advice,
with digital access support

Minimise use of
Temporary
Accommodation
(TA)

Page 63

Review options for
single people
(including those
aged under 35
years)
Maintain supported
accommodation
options

Review use of TA and develop
policy/ procedures

How/ Planned Activity
Annual SLA & monitoring
Increase personal budgeting
support & digital assistance
through delivery of UC
Implementation Plan
Review existing provision and
use (including type, duration, out
of area placements)

Consider the impact of changing
funding arrangements for supported
accommodation

Commission services related to the
SPHP & Access to PRS projects
YP supported accommodation
scheme alternative such as
Nightstop in SM
Consider the impact of changing
funding arrangements for supported
accommodation from 2020

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Identified
Resource
Existing

Lead(s)

Timescale

Housing
Strategy Officer

Reviewed annually

Senior Benefits
Officer
Policy/ procedure in
place

Existing resources

Housing
Strategy Officer

Policy/ procedure –
June 2019

No 16/17 year olds in
B&B, not to place any
families not in B&B for
longer than 6 weeks

Review available good practice/
initiatives (sharing & lodging
schemes, accommodation
finding services)

In partnership with providers and
working groups
DHOG/HPOG/County Councils

Work with partners to support ‘move
on’ agenda

Through Homelessness Forums
& MOPP

Improve performance monitoring in
relation to schemes receiving
Intensive Housing Management
funding

Review performance monitoring
procedures with providers

Quarterly monitoring
established
Options available for
singles, under 35’s to
support sustainable
access to
accommodation.
Revised funding
arrangements in place
with minimal impact to
existing supported
accommodation.

Revised monitoring
procedures in place
which inform service
quality considerations

Review – end 2018

Quarterly
monitoring

Existing resources

Housing
Strategy Officer

st

1 April 2019

Reviewed annually

Housing
Strategy Officer

Reviewed annually

Senior Benefits
Officer

17

Strategic Priority 2: Ensure suitable accommodation is available to address and prevent homelessness

Aims
Ensure vulnerable
and homeless
households are
appropriately
prioritised on the
housing registers

Actions
Review allocations policy to make
best use of stock & take into
consideration HRAct 2017

How/ Planned Activity
Complete review through Home
Options Working Group

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure
Length of time to rehouse
via Home Options data

Identified
Resource
Existing

Lead(s)

Timescale

Senior Housing
Manager

Reviewed annually

Housing
Strategy Officer

Strategic Priority 3: Improve the Private Rented Sector Offer

Page 64

Aims

Advice and
initiatives to support
both tenants and
landlords

Actions

How/ Planned Activity

Deliver a ‘call before you serve’
early intervention landlord service
pilot

Work with DHOG & DASH to
develop, deliver and evaluate
pilot.

Improve property & management
standards through Landlord
Accreditation Schemes,
enforcement activity, establishing
Landlord Forums & building staff
capacity to address illegal eviction

-Promotion of Landlord
Accreditation Schemes.
-Improved landlord information
on websites, Universal Credit
awareness raising sessions &
FAQs.
-Work with Environmental
Health and Benefit Services to
establish Landlord Forum &
consult with landlords.
-Staff training.

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure
Earlier intervention,
enabled to remain or
planned moves and
rehousing options available
Improved landlord
relationships and joint
working

Identified Resource
Existing

Lead(s)
Senior
Housing
Manager

Timescale
Pilot scheme
established
during 2018/19

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Increased prevention and
relief of homelessness.
‘Discharge of duty’ through
private rented discharge
policy

18

Strategic Priority 3: Improve the Private Rented Sector Offer

Aims
Improve access to
the private sector

Actions

How/ Planned Activity

Page 65

Recommission services related to
both the Access to the Private
Rented Sector and Single Persons
Housing Projects.
This will include Pre-tenancy
training and Tenancy Support.

Develop tender specification and
work with procurement services

Explore schemes that offer
affordable shared accommodation

Consider good practice

Review Rent Deposit Bond
Schemes and Prevention Fund

Council wide RDBS &
Prevention Fund policies
developed with housing advice
service and partners

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure
Homelessness preventions
‘Discharge of duty’ through
private rented discharge
policy

Identified Resource
Existing

Lead(s)

Timescale

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Tender during
2018/19,
services in
place by
1/4/2019

Senior
Housing
Manager

Revised RDBS
& Prevention
Fund schemes
in place end
2018

19

Strategic Priority 4: Ensure sufficient support is available to address and prevent homelessness

Aims
Reduce rough
sleeping

Actions
Help people off the streets & into
settled accommodation

Develop effective partnership
working through a joint working
protocol around tent provision in HP
with Nightstop

Page 66

Mitigate the impact
of Welfare Reforms

How/ Planned Activity
Work closely with outreach
service providers (Brighter
Futures, P3) DHOG and other
partners to develop services (in
particular High Peak outreach
provision post 31.3.2018).

Through the local delivery of the
rough sleeper project

Money, debt, budgeting and digital
support provided

Annual SLA & monitoring.

Work with agencies to increase
access and options for access to
employment
Ensure that DHP is effectively
targeted to prevent homelessness
and explore options to help secure a
move to alternative accommodation

Number of reported/ seen
rough sleepers & outcomes
of interventions

Identified Resource

Lead(s)

Timescale

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Reviewed at
DHOG and
annually

Existing

Senior
Housing
Manager

Reviewed
Annually

Consider good practice and
develop protocol and monitored

Work with Derby City mission

Stronger links with Credit Unions

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

Increase personal budgeting
support & digital assistance
through delivery of UC
Implementation Plan
Consider joint working good
practice with Credit Unions
Map & make available clear,
accessible, up to date self-help
information on the Councils
website re employment related
services

Senior
Benefits
Officer
Housing
Strategy
Officer

Work with housing benefit
service to develop DHP policy
and implement

20

Strategic Priority 4: Ensure sufficient support is available to address and prevent homelessness
Actions

Aims
Ensure that
vulnerable people
can access support
around various
issues where it may
impact upon the
ability to maintain a
home.

Page 67

Improve support
needs data
collection

How/ Planned Activity

Outcome/ Impact/
Evidence/ Performance
Measure

(As above)
Support options for female lone
parent households (25-44 age
group)
Tenancy support provision –
particularly to address gap in SM
Access to furniture and white goods
within the Staffordshire Moorlands particularly to address gap in SM
Collate data from Assessments and
HCLIC monitoring, which can inform
understanding and service
commissioning

Identified Resource
Existing

Map & promote available
options related to this and all
other customer groups.
Clear, accessible, up to date
self-help information on the
Councils website

Establish quarterly reporting

Lead(s)
Senior
Housing
Manager

Timescale
Reviewed
annually

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Greater understanding of
customer support needs/
gaps, which can be used to
inform service
commissioning/ funding
opportunities

Existing

Housing
Strategy
Officer

Quarterly
monitoring
established by
end 2018

21

Page 68

22

Agenda Item 11.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Cabinet
24 April 2018
TITLE:

Equality and Diversity Policy

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Tony Hall – Portfolio Holder for
Customer Services

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mark Forrester, Democratic & Community
Service

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A: Corporate Equality Objectives 2018/19
Appendix B: Proposed Equality and Diversity Policy
1.

Reason for the Report:
To review the Council’s Corporate Equality
Objectives and the Corporate Equality Policy.

2.

Recommendation
2.1

3.

4.

To consider and comment upon the Council’s Corporate Equality
Objectives 2018/19 and the adoption of a revised Corporate Equality
Policy.

Executive Summary
3.1

In 2015 both Alliance Councils adopted a new Equality and Diversity
Policy and approved Corporate Equality Objectives (which were
updated in 2017).

3.2

It is proposed to retain the current Equality Objectives for 2018/19 with
a progress report to be published at the end of the year.

3.3

As a result of monitoring legal cases which have considered the duties
of public authorities under the Equality Act 2010 it is recommended that
the Council revise its policy to address the findings in such cases.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities
4.1

This report relates to the Corporate Aims:

Page 69


5.

6.

Provide Quality Services in Partnership with Communities.

Options and Analysis
5.1

That the Committee considers and comments on the revised Equality
Policy and Corporate Equality Objectives. (Recommended)

5.2

That the Committee does not consider or comment on the revised
Equality Policy and Corporate Equality Objectives. (Not recommended)

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
Fulfilling the duties of the Equality Act 2010 will contribute to achieving
increased safety for the most vulnerable within our communities.

6.2

Workforce
The Joint Equality and Diversity Policy supports the Council’s approach
to providing a modern and diverse workforce.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
Undertaking the actions associated with the proposed Corporate Equality
Objectives will enable the Alliance Councils to meet their Equality Duties.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are no direct financial implications arising from the proposed
policy and actions.

6.5

Legal
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the Council to publish Equality
Objectives and report on their achievement. The proposed revised
Corporate Equality Policy addresses the issues arising from the
decisions in legal cases considering duties under the Act.

6.6

Sustainability
None.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The proposed Corporate Equality Objectives provide for consultation
with ‘protected groups’.

Page 70

6.8

Risk Assessment
An effective policy and implemented plan of action will reduce the risk of
poor decision making and legal challenge.

7.

Background and Detail
7.1

The Equality Act 2010 placed a number of duties on Councils, including
the duty to publish evidence of compliance with the duties in the Act
and the Council’s Equality Objectives.

7.2

In 2015 both Alliance Councils adopted a new Equality and Diversity
Policy and approved Corporate Equality Objectives.

7.3

The Council published updated Equality Objectives in 2017. While the
current objectives are not framed as outcomes the intention is that
actions associated with them will lead the Council to focus on key
issues for protected groups.

7.4

The Council’s transformation programme has resulted in new systems
and approaches to customer contact/ service, committee management
and staff training. Introduction of these systems has been a priority and
with progress on the equality actions dependent on these
developments the Council is now in a good position to achieve its
objectives. It is proposed to retain the current Equality Objectives for
2018/19 with a progress report produced at the end of the year.
(Appendix A)

7.5

Officers have reviewed legal cases where there have been objections
to decisions by public bodies and an alleged failure to follow equality
policies/duties has been a ground for challenge. Given the risk of such
challenge to the Council it is proposed that the Council’s policy is
reviewed to ensure that it is clear and focussed on the Council’s duties
under the Act.

7.6

The proposed revised policy is attached at Appendix B for
consideration.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director & Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Page 71

Contact details

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Corporate Equality Objectives 2018/19
High Peak Borough Council & Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Equality & Diversity Scheme: Action Plan 2018/19
Equality Objectives
Action
Knowing our communities
To understand who lives in our
 Update the Community Profile (a
communities and their needs.
resource which describes the makeup
of our borough/district by protected
characteristics) and promote its use to
service managers.
 See also consultation (below)
Place shaping, leadership and commitment
To clearly state our equality priorities and  Ensure that measures are included in
ensure that we have systems in place to
service plans as they are revised and
achieve them.
brought together as an overall plan.
Community engagement and satisfaction
To ensure that we include those with
 Update the consultation forward plans.
‘protected characteristics’ in our
consultation and engagement processes.
Responsive services and Customer care
To ensure that equality performance
 Incorporate consideration of equality
actions are included in service plans and
impacts as part of the Modern Gov.
monitored.
committee management process.
 Train managers to understand the
equality impact assessment process.
A modern and diverse workforce
To ensure that our workforce reflects as
 Pilot the use of a staff profile
far as possible the makeup of the
questionnaire (collecting information in
community we serve and has the
relation to protected characteristics)
necessary skills
and promote to staff.
 Provide equality training for staff.

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality & Diversity Policy
(DRAFT)

Page 75

1

Policy Statement
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) (the Council) is committed to
fulfilling its duty under the Equality Act. To




Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.




1. Purpose and Scope
1.1

The purpose of having this policy is to provide a coherent approach to tackling
equality and diversity across all the protected equality characteristics (age,
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion/belief and sexual orientation) It also
aims to make equality and diversity integral to the way that the Council works
in order to achieve:







A clearer understanding of the needs of the residents of the Staffordshire
Moorlands
Better informed decision-making and policy development
Excellent quality services which meet varied needs
More effective targeting of policy and resources that will do the most to
increase equality
Better outcomes and greater confidence in public services
A more effective use of talent in the workforce

2. Responsibilities
2.1

The Chief Executive with senior management teams are responsible for
providing leadership in the implementation of this policy and for ensuring that
they and their staff understand and comply with their responsibilities under the
Equality Act.

2.2

Councillors have overall responsibility for the direction and scrutiny of this
policy and will ensure that principles of fairness and equality guide the
decision making process.

Page 76

2

3. Service Delivery
3.1

The Council provides direct services, regulates, funds and commissions
services. In all these roles and activities the Council is committed to fair and
equitable access to services, whether they are provided directly by Council
employees, in partnership with other agencies or indirectly through external
contract, funding or commissioning arrangements. All service areas will take
steps to ensure that Council functions and policies are carried out in a way
that complies with statutory requirements and meets the needs of all local
people as appropriately as possible.

3.2

The Council aims to ensure that all its functions and policies are carried out in
a way that complies with statutory requirements by:


Ensuring equal access, fair treatment and appropriate provision to the
whole community regardless of age, disability, gender, gender
reassignment, marital or civil partnership status, pregnancy or maternity
status, race, religion, nationality, social background or sexual orientation;



Providing services that are designed to meet a wide range of different
needs in the community;



Providing appropriate services, adapting them, where reasonable, to meet
the needs of the whole community promoting equal access to services,
including producing clear information about how to access our services
(for example in large print);



Providing and publicise clear information on how customers can complain
or comment about the services they have received and respond efficiently
to complaints;



Ensuring that wherever practicable, all services and buildings are
accessible to everyone;



Carrying out consultation and undertaking formal impact assessment when
necessary to ascertain whether current service provision and any
proposed changes are consistent with legal obligations.

4. Training
4.1

Equipping Councillors, managers and Council employees with the knowledge
and skills is essential.
Training will be focused at a range of levels including:


Training at an appropriate level for all employees on equality and diversity;

Page 77

3



General awareness as part of the induction programme for all new
employees and councillors.



Refresher training when appropriate.

5.

The Council as an Employer

5.1

The Council is a major employer in the District. As an employer the Council
aims to:


Develop, review and promote policies and practices that ensure equality of
opportunity and eliminate discrimination for our workforce in all areas of
employment, including recruitment, retention, learning and development, and



Reflect the diverse nature of the District within the Council’s workforce.

6. Working with Partners
6.1

The Council works closely with many different groups of people in the
community on numerous issues and will take a leading role to drive equality
and diversity forward across the District.

6.2

Key partners include community and voluntary groups. These provide an
excellent way of communicating, consulting and designing services with the
people of the area as well as acting a monitoring forum on how the Council is
delivering.

7. Procurement and contract management
7.1

The Council will take into account in its tender evaluation and contracting
processes a potential contractor’s approach to equalities in terms of its
employment practices and service delivery. It will do this by asking potential
contractors relevant questions and include appropriate provisions in its
contract documents relating to these matters.

8. The Council’s Action Plan
8.1

The Council has published its equality and diversity objectives which will set
out specific actions which the Council will undertake, including timeframes, to
promote its equality objectives. This will be updated when required.

8.2

The Council’s equality and diversity objectives will be audited periodically to
ensure delivery of those objectives and the results published on the Council’s
website.

Page 78

4

8.3

The Council will arrange appropriate training for all its staff.

9. Contact details
For further information or if you would like this document in large print, Braille or
audio format, contact Mark Forrester, Manager, Democratic and Community
Services:

mark.forrester@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
01538 395400
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Moorlands House
Stockwell Street
Leek
Staffordshire Moorlands
ST13 6HQ

Page 79

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
24 April 2018
TITLE:

National Planning Policy Framework
Consultation

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Edwin Wain - Planning,
Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER:

Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager

WARDS INVOLVED:

All areas

1.

Reason for the Report: To inform Councillors of the proposals in the draft
National Planning Policy Framework which is currently subject to consultation.
The report also makes recommendations regarding responding to the
consultation.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Councillors note the proposals in the draft National Planning Policy
Framework and the proposal to work with the Local Government Association
to submit a joint response (Option 1 in Section 5).

2.2

That Councillors note the implications for the Local Plan Submission Version.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Government is consulting on a revised draft of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) and supporting guidance until 10th May. The
consultation builds on previous document issued by Government, including
the Housing White Paper. The revised NPPF seeks to facilitate further
housing growth, protect the green belt, streamline developer contributions and
reflect changes since the introduction of the original NPPF in 2012 such as
Written Ministerial Statements and case law.

3.2

Much of the draft document can be welcomed. However, there are concerns
regarding the proposed approach to developer contributions which may have
a negative impact on the ability to maximise affordable housing contributions

Page 81

on viable sites. Other concerns include the implications of the proposed
Housing Delivery Test and the standard methodology for assessing Local
Housing Needs. It is proposed that Council engages with the Local
Government Association to submit a response to the consultation as it is more
likely to influence the final NPPF.
3.3

Once the NPPF is finalised later this Summer, it will be a material
consideration to planning applications. In terms of the implications for the
emerging Local Plan, the draft NPPF states that the current NPPF will apply
for the purposes for examining plans that have been submitted within six
months of the publication of the updated NPPF. In these cases, the
examination will take no account of the new NPPF. Accordingly, if the Council
submits the Local Plan in June 2018 in line with the agreed timetable, it will be
examined under the current NPPF. However, at the time of writing, there
appears to be a discrepancy between the draft NPPF and the supporting
information published by Government which suggests that the new “positively
prepared” and “effective” tests of soundness will apply. Clarification has been
sought from Government on this issue. A response is awaited.

3.4

If the Local Plan is withdrawn or otherwise does not proceed to adoption
following publication of the new NPPF, the policies of the new NPPF would apply.
Any future review of the Local Plan would also be taken forward in accordance
with the new national policies.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The National Planning Policy Framework will have implications for the
following Corporate Priorities by influencing future decisions regarding
planning applications and any updates to the Local Plan:
•
•
•

Aim One - Help create a safer and healthier environment for our
residents to live and work
Aim Three – To create a strong economy by supporting further
regeneration of towns and villages
Aim Four - Protect and improve the environment.

5.

Options and Analysis.

5.1

Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council liaises with the Local Government
Association to submit a joint response to the consultation. This is
recommended as it is considered that such a response will carry more weight.

5.2

Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council submits its own response or
does not respond to the consultation. This is not recommended as it would
provide the Council with less or no influence over national policy.
Implications

6.

Page 82

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications.

6.2

Workforce
None direct

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The potential for the proposed Housing Delivery Test to influence
future New Homes Bonus payments could have financial
implications for the Council. This will be subject to separate
consultation at a later date. As such, the implications at this stage
are unclear.

6.5

Legal
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
dictates that applications for planning permission should be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. Once adopted, the new
NPPF will become a material consideration to planning
applications.

6.6

Sustainability
The draft NPPF still requires Local Plans to be supported by a
Sustainability Appraisal.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The draft National Planning Policy Framework has been published
for public consultation until 10th May. It is proposed that the Council
engages with the Local Government Association to prepare a joint
response to Government.

6.8

Risk Assessment
If the Council does not engage with the consultation, there will be
an increased risk that the revised NPPF has a negative impact on
the District. If the Council does not engage with the Local
Government Association to respond, there is an increased risk that
the District Council’s response will carry less weight. These risks

Page 83

are minimised, but not eliminated, through Option 1 in Section 5 to
this report.

7.

Background and Detail

7.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s
policy in respect of planning and how they should be applied. It provides the
framework for the preparation of Local Plans and other planning documents
such as Neighbourhood Plans. The NPPF is also a material consideration for
planning applications. The current NPPF was established in 2012 and has
been subject to review by Government. A revised draft has now been issued
for consultation which builds on initial proposals published by Government in
previous years. The proposals reflect consultation feedback gather to date,
Written Ministerial Statements issued since the publication of the NPPF in
2012 and the effect of case law on the interpretation of the current NPPF.

7.2

Alongside the draft NPPF are proposals for updates to the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG) which supplements the NPPF. Further proposals
for reforming developer contributions (S106 agreements) are also expected
to be brought forward through regulations.

7.3

The overarching premise of the draft NPPF is to facilitate the Government’s
drive to increase house building across England with a view to delivering
300,000 net additional homes per year. However, there remains a strong
commitment to protect the Green Belt. In this context, a summary of the key
proposals is provided below. A link to the Government’s own overview of the
proposals and detailed wording of the draft NPPF is provided at the end of
this report.
Housing requirements and supply


A new standard methodology for determining local housing needs is proposed
to determine the minimum number of homes to be provided for in Local Plans.
Any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas should also be taken
into account. The methodology should apply unless there are there are
exceptional circumstances that justify an alternative approach which also
reflects current and future demographic trends and market signals. The
assessment of Local Housing Need will be informed by the latest household
projections over a ten year period published by the Government with an
adjustment to reflect local affordability of housing. This is determined by
considering the ratio of local average income to local average house prices
applying data published by the Office for National Statistics. Provisions for
caps to the Local Housing Need are also set out in recognition of the fact that
in some parts of the country, the new methodology will result in an increase in
housing requirements. Based on data currently available, the Local Housing
Need figure in Staffordshire Moorlands would be lower than the current Local
Plan Submission Version requirement (320 homes per year) and objectively
assessed need for housing (330 homes per year). However, it is important to
note that the current figures include an uplift to support economic growth and
affordable housing provision which does not form part of the standard

Page 84

methodology. The new method also only determines the minimum number of
homes to be provided. New household projections and affordability ratio data
is due to be published later this year. This data will confirm the implications of
the new methodology when it is in place. An extract from the draft NPPG is
provided at Appendix 1 to this report which sets out the methodology in more
detail. The greater certainty regarding the minimum number of homes to be
provided under the standard methodology is supported. However, it is
considered that development requirements for Local Plans will still prove to be
contentious. In order to provide further clarity for areas seeking to provide
more homes that the minimum number required, it is considered that the
NPPG should provide further guidance and support for this. This would apply
in areas such as Staffordshire Moorlands with a high need for affordable
housing and where economic growth would also be facilitated through
additional housing.


Local plans should provide for objectively assessed needs for development,
including unmet need from neighbouring areas, unless particular policies
provide "a strong reason for restricting the overall scale” of development. The
balancing exercise to justify not meeting needs in full whereby any adverse
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits remains. This proposal formalises what in effect has already been
good practice as local authorities have sought to address unmet housing
needs through the Duty to Co-operate. The Council has already engaged with
relevant neighbours on this basis and has been unable to address the small
housing shortfall of 190 homes in the plan.



Policies providing a specific reason for restricting development are set out in a
defined list rather than as examples as in the present NPPF. They include
green belt, land “within” national parks, local green spaces and Sites of
Special Scientific Interest. This clarity is supported. However, recognition of
the constraints placed on local authorities that adjoin or a partially within a
national park should also be acknowledged given their statutory duty to have
regard to the purposes of national park as specified in the Environment Act
1995, namely;
(i) to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage
of the national parks; and
(ii) to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the
special qualities [of the parks] by the public.



As with the current NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable
development would be triggered where a council cannot demonstrate a fiveyear housing supply. In areas with recent1 Neighbourhood Plans that plan for
housing, the NPPF states that it is unlikely that the benefits of the
development would outweigh the harm provided that there is a three year
supply of housing and its housing delivery was at least 45% of that required
over the previous three years. This carries forward the existing extra

1

Recent being defined as passed at referendum two years or less before the date on which the
decision is made

Page 85

protection for areas with Neighbourhood Plans as set out in the 2016 Written
Ministerial Statement. This reflects the current approach.


The presumption in favour of sustainable development may also apply where
a new housing delivery test indicates that delivery of housing has been
substantially below the housing requirement over the previous three years.
The Secretary of State will publish the Housing Delivery Test result for each local
planning authority in England every November. The full implications of the
Housing Delivery Test results are proposed to be:
o The publication of an action plan if housing delivery falls below 95%.
The action plan would set out how the local authority intends to
increase delivery;
o A 20% buffer on a local planning authority’s five-year land supply if
housing delivery falls below 85%; and
o The presumption in favour of sustainable development if housing
delivery falls below 75%, once proposed transitional arrangements
have ended
The transitional arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test are:
o From the day following the publication of the 2018 Housing Delivery
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below
25%;
o From the day following the publication of the 2019 Housing Delivery
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below
45%;
o From the day following the publication of the 2020 Housing Delivery
Test result, the presumption will apply if housing delivery falls below
75% (the final threshold)
The supporting documentation to the draft NPPF suggests that in future, the
Housing Delivery Test may also be used in determining New Homes Bonus
payments. This would be subject to further separate consultation before proposed
implementation in 2019-20. Whilst the need to encourage local authorities to
facilitate housing delivery is acknowledged, it is of concern that the proposed
housing delivery test will potentially undermine Local Plans and the “plan-led
system” if the presumption in favour of sustainable development is applied when
delivery falls below 75%. In many instances, delivery can be almost entirely in the
hands of private developers with the Council having little opportunity to directly
accelerate the implementation of sites with permission. It is also considered that
the Housing Delivery Test may act as a dis-incentive to local authorities who may
otherwise wish to plan for more homes than the minimum requirement
established by the standard methodology due to the extra risk of failing the
delivery test and having less influence over future applications. These risks were
considered in the report to Council Assembly regarding the publication of the
Local Plan on 13th February.



In order to allow authorities to incentivise timely delivery of development, the
NPPF allows authorities to consider imposing a planning condition to bring

Page 86

forward development within two years, except where a shorter timescale
could hinder the viability or deliverability of a scheme. It also encourages local
planning authorities to consider why major sites have not been built out when
considering subsequent planning applications. These measures are to be
welcomed.


Councils would be able to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable sites
through a recently adopted local plan2 or an annual position statement. The
draft includes a mechanism allowing the five-year land supply position to be
agreed for a one-year period, subject to a ten per cent buffer "to account for
any fluctuations in the market during that year". This would involve
engagement with developers others who have an impact on delivery and then
consideration by the Secretary of State. The annual position statement must
also incorporate changes recommended by the Secretary of State if
agreement cannot reached between the parties regarding specific sites during
the engagement process. The principle of this approach is supported as it
would reduce the frequency with which the housing land supply is contested
at planning appeals.

Local Plans


The “tests of soundness” that Local Plans are considered against at
examination are proposed to be amended. Plans will need to show that they
propose "an appropriate strategy", compared with the current requirement for
them to constitute "the most appropriate strategy" for the area. In order for
Local Plans to pass the test of being “positively prepared”, the draft NPPF
states that plans should “meet as much as possible” development needs. This
appears to be a softening of these two tests which should be less onerous for
local authorities to pass at examination. In order for plans to be considered
“effective”, they will in future need to be evidenced by statements of common
ground which establish strategic matters of co-operation between the Council
and other bodies. This Council is in the process of preparing Statements of
Common Ground with authorities including; the Peak District National Park
Authority, Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough
Council and Stafford Borough Council. These proposals can be supported.



There is a new requirement for authorities to review Local Plan policies every
five years following the date of adoption, with updates, if necessary, to reflect
changing circumstances. This may include changes to the Local Housing
Need. The NPPF update merely reflects Regulation 10A of The Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)
which introduced the plan review requirement on 6th April 2018.



The test for Green Belt release to be proposed in Local Plans only in
“exceptional circumstances” is carried forward from the existing NPPF.
However, further clarification is given on how this must be demonstrated.

2

A plan adopted between 1 May and 31 October will be considered ‘recently adopted’ until 31
October of the following year; and a plan adopted between 1 November and 30 April will be
considered recently adopted until 31 October that year

Page 87

Planning authorities must fully examine "all other reasonable options" for
meeting their identified development needs before releasing green belt by;
making as much use as possible of suitable brownfield sites and underutilised
land, optimising densities in town centres and other locations well served by
public transport" and considering the scope for development to be
accommodated in neighbouring authorities. Councils are also advised to set
out ways in which the impact of removing land from the green belt can be
offset through compensatory improvements to the environmental quality and
accessibility of remaining green belt land. The clarification of the approach
required support green belt release is welcomed.


Local plans should set out a housing requirement figure for designated
neighbourhood areas and this should not need retesting at neighbourhood
plan examinations. The Local Plan Submission Version already sets out
neighbourhood area requirements for each of the designated neighbourhood
areas at the time of publication. This requirement can be supported.

 Where policy requirements have been tested for viability at the plan-making
stage, such issues should not usually need to be visited again at the planning
application stage. The proposed new policy expects all viability assessments
to reflect a recommended approach to be set in revised national planning
guidance and says all viability assessments should be made publicly
available. The guidance says plans can set out when and how review
mechanisms may be used to amend developer contributions to help account
for significant changes in costs and values, and how any significant increase
in overall value should be apportioned between the local authority and the
developer. This is intended to make the process more streamlined and
transparent. The principle of this approach is supported. However, it is
considered that removing the flexibility for negotiating S106 agreement could
have unintended consequences. Some schemes could be rendered unviable
unless the policy requirements are set as such a low level that they are viable
in the vast majority of cases. Setting requirements at such a level will
inevitably result in lower levels of contributions towards planning gain,
including affordable housing, from the more viable sites in the District with the
potential to support further contributions.
 The consultation document that accompanies the draft NPPF states that the
Government is "open to views" over its proposals to require councils to ensure
that one-fifth of their housing supply pipeline in Local Plans is made up of
small sites of under half a hectare. This approach is considered to be arbitrary
and may lead to lengthy Local Plan examinations with discussion around
many more sites than previously which, individually, offer little in terms of
housing land supply. A more pragmatic approach would be for windfall
allowances to count towards the boost to the supply of small sites.
 There is a clear requirement for policies for addressing the housing
requirements of groups with particular needs. In addition, to the elderly and
disabled, students and travellers have been added to the list, as have people
who rent their homes. This can be supported.
Developer contributions

Page 88



In a separate consultation, the government proposes that it may in the future
consider setting developer contributions nationally and making them "nonnegotiable. As stated above, this proposal may have unintended and
unhelpful consequences that should be avoided.

Timescales and implications
7.4

The consultation closes on 10 May 2018. The final NPPF is expected to be
issued later this Summer. Annex 1 to the draft NPPF sets out the transitional
arrangements for the implementation of the new NPPF once it is published.

7.5

Once the NPPF is finalised later this Summer, it will be a material
consideration to planning applications. In terms of the implications for the
emerging Local Plan, the draft NPPF states that the current NPPF will apply
for the purposes for examining plans that have been submitted within six
months of the publication of the updated NPPF. In these cases, the
examination will take no account of the new NPPF. Accordingly, if the Council
submits the Local Plan in June 2018 in line with the agreed timetable, it will be
examined under the current NPPF. However, at the time of writing, there
appears to be a discrepancy between the draft NPPF and the supporting
information published by Government which suggests that the new “positively
prepared” and “effective” tests of soundness will apply. Clarification has been
sought from Government on this issue. If the new tests apply, it would place
bring forward the need to put Statements of Common Ground in place.
However, this is requirement is already being progressed by the Council in
advance of its introduction. The new test also states that “as a minimum, meet
as much as possible of the area’s objectively assessed needs” rather than the
current version which reads that Local Plans should “seek to meet objectively
assessed development…”

7.6

If the Local Plan is withdrawn or otherwise does not proceed to adoption
following publication of the new NPPF, the policies of the new NPPF would apply.
Any future review of the Local Plan would also be taken forward in accordance
with the new national policies.

7.7

The Housing Delivery Test will be introduced in line with the transitional
arrangements set out earlier in this report. This will provide the Council with an
added incentive to ensure that the planned quantum of housing is delivered by
taking a pro-active approach with developers and other partners.

Dai Larner
Executive Director - Place

Page 89

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

https://www.gov.uk/government/con Moorlands House
sultations/draft-revised-nationalplanning-policy-framework

Contact details

Mark James (Senior
Regeneration Officer Planning Policy)
mark.james@staffsmoorla
nds.gov.uk. Ext. 3643.

APPENDIX 1 – Extract from the draft NPPG – standard methodology for
assessing minimum Local Housing Needs
STEP 1 - SETTING THE BASELINE

Page 90

National Household projections, for the area of the local authority, provide the starting
point.
The household projections are produced by applying projected household representative
rates to the population projections published by the Office for National Statistics.
Projected household representative rates are based on trends observed in Census and
Labour Force Survey data.
The household projections are trend based, meaning that they provide the household
levels and structures that would result if the assumptions based on previous
demographic trends in the population and rates of household formation were to be
realised in practice. They do not attempt to predict the impact that future government
policies, changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic
behaviour.
The most recent official projections need to be used to calculate the average annual
household growth over a 10 year period.
STEP 2 - AN ADJUSTMENT TO TAKE ACCOUNT OF MARKET SIGNALS

An important consideration in assessing an appropriate level of housing is the
affordability of homes, which means that projected household growth needs to be
adjusted to take account of market signals.
Median affordability ratios, published by the Office for National Statistics at a local
authority level, should be used for adjusting household projections. The affordability
ratios compare the median house prices to median workplace earnings. Plan-making
authorities should use the most recent year for which data is available.
Each 1% increase in the ratio of house prices to earnings above 4 results in a quarter of
a per cent increase in need above projected household growth. The precise formula is
as follows:

The local housing need figure is therefore as follows:
Local housing need = (1+adjustment factor) x projected household growth
So, for example, an area with a projected household growth of 132 a year would have
an annual need of:
• 132 if average house prices were 4 times local average earnings
• 165 if average houses prices were 8 times local average earnings
• 198 if average house prices were 12 times local average earnings
STEP 3 - CAPPING THE LEVEL OF ANY INCREASE

The market adjustment could lead to a significant increase in the local housing need in
some parts of the country. To help ensure the method is deliverable, a cap on the local

Page 91

housing need may be applied. The appropriate cap will depend on the current status of
the plan in each authority as follows:
a. for those authorities that have reviewed their plan (including a review of local housing
need) or adopted their plan in the last five years, a cap may be applied to their new
annual local housing need figure at 40% above the average annual requirement figure
currently set out in their plan; or
b. for those authorities that have not reviewed their plan (including a review of local
housing need) or adopted their plan in the last five years, a cap may be applied to their
new annual local housing need figure at 40% above whichever is higher of the projected
household growth for their area over the 10 years (using Office for National Statistics’
household projections), or the annual housing requirement figure set out in their most
recent plan if one exists.

Page 92

Agenda Item 12.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
24 April 2018
TITLE:

Foxt Conservation Area Designation and
Character Appraisal

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

Councillor Wain, Portfolio holder for
Planning Development and Property

OFFICER:

Executive Director, Dai Larner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Ipstones

Appendices
Appendix 1 Appendix 2 Appendix 3 1.

Reason for the Report:
1.1

2.

To report back to Cabinet on the results of the public consultation
exercise regarding the designation of a conservation area at Foxt and
the accompanying draft character appraisal.

Recommendation
2.1

3.

Comments received from the Consultation exercise
Final proposed Foxt Conservation Area boundary
Final draft Foxt Conservation Area Character Appraisal

For the Cabinet to note the public consultation responses and approve
designating the proposed conservation area at Foxt and the
accompanying character appraisal as set out in appendix 2 and 3.

Executive Summary
3.1

The area’s architectural and historic interest has been identified within
the Churnet Valley Masterplan SPD and a possible conservation area
designation around Foxt is a key action point. A draft boundary for the
conservation area and accompanying draft character appraisals were
considered by the Panel at its meeting held on the 15th November 2017
and approved for the purposes of public consultation.

3.2

This report sets out the results of the consultation undertaken and
proposes that the conservation area at Foxt and its accompanying
character appraisal are adopted.

Page 93

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities
4.1

5.

This report concerns the best practice management of the District’s
heritage value, significance and future enhancement. This in turn, is
related to the Council’s corporate aim 3: To help create a strong
economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages whilst
maintaining the area’s distinct identity and raising the quality of places.

Options
5.1

There are two principal options:
Option 1 – Accept all the recommendations
It is a statutory duty for Councils to periodically review and determine
whether any of their areas warrant conservation area designation.
Through the Churnet Valley Masterplan, Foxt has been identified as an
area that potentially retains sufficient architectural and historic interest
to warrant designation. Designating the proposed conservation area
and adopting the character appraisal will maximise the protection
afforded to the hamlet.
Recommended
Option 2 – Not accept any of the recommendations
The proposed conservation area boundary is designed to ensure the
protection of Foxt’s special character. Failure to designate the
conservation area at Foxt would not meet a key action point arising
from the adopted SPD (Churnet Valley Masterplan).
Not recommended

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2

Workforce
No implications

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
No implications

Page 94

6.5

Legal
It is a statutory duty for local authorities to determine which parts of
their area are worthy of conservation area status and to review
these areas from time to time (Section 69 of the Planning (Listed
Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.6

Sustainability
The sustainable retention and reuse of buildings is intrinsically
linked to the designation and positive management of conservation
areas.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
In accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement April 2016 officers consulted the following groups:







Statutory Bodies
Parish/Town Councils
Ward Councillors
Council Officers
Local residents
Local landowners

In addition to this, a copy of the boundary and appraisal was
deposited at local Council offices and libraries (Leek). A leaflet
regarding the proposed boundary and draft appraisal was
circulated to all residents within and adjacent to the proposed
conservation area. A press statement was prepared and a copy of
the boundary and appraisal was available to view and comment
upon on the Council’s web site. Consultation was carried out during
January 2018.
There were 11 comments received as a result of the consultation.
There were 5 in support, 4 objections and 2 comments. The details
of all comments received and officer’s responses are set out in
appendix 1. The objections and concerns are summarised below:










Area does not warrant conservation area designation
Previous planning approvals have eroded Foxt’s character
Designation would impact on modern farming practices
Preservation of footpaths is important
Proposed infill boundary for Foxt is detrimental
Lack of archaeological evidence to support claims in
character appraisal
Designation would increase house prices, cost or
renovations and properties remaining empty.
Modern housing and infrastructure required for Foxt.
Conservation area boundary should be widened.

Page 95


6.8

Historic features not mentioned in the character appraisal

Risk Assessment
No significant issues have been identified.

7.

Background
7.1

Under Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990, it is a statutory duty for local authorities to determine
which parts of their area are worthy of conservation area status and to
review these areas from time to time. The Churnet Valley Masterplan
identified the possibility that Foxt may warrant conservation area
designation and this became a key recommendation from the
Masterplan (7.5.3).

7.2

To respond to this recommendation, the Council appointed consultants
(Mel Morris Conservation) to review the possible heritage value around
Foxt and determine if any parts contain sufficient special architectural
and historic interest to warrant designation. This review was completed
last year and the Cabinet, at its meeting on the 8th December 2017,
approved the draft boundary and character appraisal for the purposes
of public consultation.

7.3

The proposed conservation area boundary has been drawn to follow
well-defined distinct physical boundaries. It centres around the ‘Old
Town’ which contains highly distinctive and irregular tear drop shaped
enclosures and crofts with clusters of buildings dating or originating
from the 17th century. To the south (east and west) the boundary is
widened to include the striking terrain and wider landscape setting
around the hamlet.

7.4

The designation of an area is a commitment from the local planning
authority to protect the historic and architectural elements that make the
place special. Designation seeks to preserve and enhance the
character and appearance of the conservation area by imposing
additional planning controls over demolition, advertisements,
development and the protection of trees.

7.5

In order to recognise, preserve and enhance the area’s special
character, the Council, public and local agents need to understand and
identify what are the elements that determine the area’s historic
significance. In response, a draft character appraisal has been
completed for Foxt. This document has been prepared in accordance
with Historic England’s best practice and sets out the history and
distinctive characteristics of the area. The preparation of character
appraisals is invaluable when making informed development control
decisions. They have been used to defend the Council’s position in the
event of refusal of planning permission and in fighting any subsequent
planning appeals.

7.6

The National Planning Policy Framework contains policies regarding
the designation of conservation areas and their assessment. These

Page 96

assessments should be taken into account when considering the
impact of development. It is important that the Council prepares such
documents as they provide the evidence base required to form robust
plans and minimise the risk of challenge through planning appeals.

Dai Larner
Executive Director

Web Links and
Background Papers
Foxt Conservation Area boundary
and Character Appraisals

Location

Contact details

Files held electronically

Joanne Brooks ext 3654

.

Page 97

Appendix 1 – Consultation Responses
Respondent
M Cooke

Page 98
C Green

J & C Holt

Comment
Does not agree with conservation area
designation or boundary.

Officer Response
Note objection and concerns over recent approvals.

Officer recommendation

Foxt has no significant interest and
more deserving locations in SMDC. Foxt
has some vistas but no outstanding
panoramas. Planning applications
passed since 2014 in gardens and
agricultural land result in a cramped
bubble. New modern bungalow severs
the link between the Malthouse and
Fox and Goose. The mock Tudor
appearance of Yew Tree Cottage, solar
panels on roofs and plastic windows in
listed buildings does not merit
conservation area status.
Objecting to agricultural land in
conservation area without consultation
is wrong and very bad manners.

Once adopted the designation and character
appraisal will be a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications that affect
the conservation area or its setting.
Even when designating a conservation area
boundary there will always be elements that have
previously been altered. The Council cannot reverse
this but can use the designation and character
appraisal to guide appropriate development within
the future.

The point regarding planning
permissions has been raised by
a number of respondents and
officers consider it prudent to
make a general reference to
the applications within the
Character Appraisal.

The proposed extra regulations do not
take into account modern farming
practices and will be resisted vigorously.
Agree to conservation area designation
and content of character appraisal.
However concerned that recently 4
planning applications have been
approved that contradicts the spatial
analysis section 4.7. This deals with the
conflict of new housing and the inability

There are no proposed restrictions that would affect
modern farming methods. No further objections
were received from the landowner.
Note support and concerns over recent approvals.
Once adopted the designation and character
appraisal will be a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications that affect
the conservation area or its setting.

Consultation leaflet was sent to landowners within
the proposed conservation area boundary.

No change proposed

The point regarding planning
permissions has been raised by
a number of respondents and
officers consider it prudent to
make a general reference to
the applications within the
Character Appraisal.

Respondent

Mr & Mrs
Cope

J Sutton

Page 99

J Snow

P Goram

S Mellor

Comment
to preserve the original crofts and can
therefore no longer achieve its
objectives.
Concerned about the conservation area
designation as it will split neighbours as
only certain part of the village included.
Footpaths in village have been stopped.
Support conservation area designation.
Concern over blocking of footpath.

Support conservation area designation
to stop further damage to valuable
historical area.
Does not support the conservation area
designation as too late given recent
planning approvals.

Officer Response

Officer recommendation

Note concerns. The Council is aware that 1 footpath
has been blocked and is subject to a Section 53
application with SCC (see point below).

No change proposed

Note support. The Council is aware that 1 footpath
No change proposed
has been blocked and is subject to a Section 53
application with SCC. The character appraisal
identifies the footpath network as a key
characteristic of the area and their loss as a problem.
Designation of these as public footpaths is a
recommendation of the character appraisal.
Note Support
No change proposed

Note objection and concerns over recent approvals.
Once adopted the designation and character
appraisal will be a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications that affect
the conservation area or its setting.

Concern over the imposition of the infill There is no infill boundary proposed for Foxt under
boundary policy of the emerging Local
the emerging Local Plan . Within this Foxt is defined
Plan.
as a smaller village . Development will be controlled
through policy SS 9. - Development will be strictly
controlled in order to ensure that the character and
life of the settlement is not undermined.
Object to conservation area
Note objection.
designation.

No change proposed

Comment noted

Respondent

Page 100

Comment
The criteria described as a few old
buildings, a few rock formations and
some trees is not adequate reasoning
for the designation of a conservation
area. The appraisal does not back up its
assumptions with any archaeological
evidence regarding rock formations and
defensive use of village. Much more
archaeological evidence would need to
be provided to prove that it has any real
historical value. This would be a further
waste of money that could be spent on
improving the village in general for the
people who will live in the village.

Officer Response
The justification for conservation area designation is
set out in the character appraisal. It defines and
records the special architectural and historic interest
of the area. The County Archaeologist has been
consulted as part of this process and the report
states any archaeological assumptions are
‘probable.’ A recommendation of the report states
that future investigation and evaluation of potential
archaeological sites should be carried out. It is also
likely that any development proposals would need
to be accompanied by an archaeological evaluation.

Officer recommendation
No change proposed

The village could benefit from further
modern properties being built and less
opposition to sensible construction
projects. Foxt has poor infrastructure
and a lack of residents means limited
support for any commercial ventures
within the village and any social
activities.

Designation does not preclude development but
aims to ensure that these respect the character of
the area. Designation does not restrict improved
infrastructure.

No change proposed

The cost of extending or repairing
property will become more expensive
as properties will need to adhere to
stricter rules.

Conservation area designation does not always
impose stricter rules but guides future development
so that it preserves or enhances the character of the
area. Irrespective of conservation area designation
alteration to existing properties would need to be
mindful of maintaining the local distinctive character
of Staffordshire Moorlands and complementing the
special character and heritage of the area. (Policy

No change proposed

Respondent

Page 101

Comment

Officer Response
SS1 and DC1 emerging local plan)

Officer recommendation

The conservation area includes no
properties or locations within it that
would benefit the general public but
would increase the value of the homes
within it which may stand empty.

Preserving or enhancing the character of Foxt is of
benefit to the general public. The value of property
within the area is likely to be driven by location and
the characteristics of the hamlet. Conservation area
designation is unlikely to increase value significantly.

No change proposed

The conservation area excludes several
older residential dwellings on the other
side of the village and doesn’t include
the church and churchyard and the
historic area of the canal which are the
most historically significant buildings in
the village.

The boundary of the potential conservation area was
reviewed and a wide geographical area was
considered at the outset. Areas assessed included
St. Mark’s Church and the Village Hall, the New
Cottages and Villas, and Whirley Low Cottages, Red
Row and Parkside. A separate conservation area
was also considered for Ipstones Park, but this was
discounted because of the level of alteration to the
building fabric. The park lacks the special
architectural interest to be included within a
conservation area. Its historic interest is undeniable
but the condition of its surviving historic fabric has
been diluted by unsympathetic alterations and
redevelopment of historic buildings, the poor
condition of the walled boundaries, where these
survive, and the loss of boundary banks and ditches.

No change proposed

All buildings in the outlying area were photographed
and considered for their relationship with the focus
for the original nucleus of the village. Many of these
elements, whilst of historic and architectural interest
in their own right, were too detached and disparate
to the main focus of the settlement to include within
the conservation area.

Respondent

Comment

Officer Response

Officer recommendation

The main reason for this in terms of its relationship
with the Church and Village Hall, was the poor
quality of the environment between the Hall and
Brook Cottage and lack of special architectural or
historic interest; i.e. the character of the Central
Garage site and its environs is too altered to make a
coherent boundary with the main part of the village.

Page 102

The main focus has a core that is well-integrated and
cohesive in character. This is very distinct and is easy
to relate to its early form and location within the
landscape.
Froghall Wharf is part of the Caldon Canal
Conservation Area and it would be appropriate to
review the boundary of this when an appraisal is
produced. At that time it may be more appropriate
to include the tramways, wharfs and settlements
along its length, including the industrial housing, the
Villas and New Cottages, which were built for the
copperworks and with which it holds a more close
relationship.
The option of including Whirley Low Cottages within
the boundary would have involved long elements of
fields and road with little or no intrinsic interest. On
balance it was felt that this could not be considered
as an integrated ‘character area’.
The pubs inclusion is confusing, as it will
restrict its purpose for demolition in the

Conservation area designation does not necessarily
preclude demolition but any proposals for

No change proposed

Respondent

V Cowie

P Cowie

Page 103
Ipstones PC

Comment
future should it be better suited for
residential use.
Support conservation area designation
but feels that the conservation area
boundary should be widened out to
include church and village hall and
additional fields and open spaces to
retain the true character of the village.
Support conservation area designation
but feels that the boundary should be
widened to include far more properties
and pasture land between buildings to
preserve the open aspect. Additional
properties for inclusion should be ‘The
Villas and ‘New Cottages’ , Church and
village hall, Town Head Farm and
cottages between and up to Whirley
Low, cottages at Whirley Low and field
opposite repair garage and haulage
business yard (former quarry).
The document is out of date as it does
not take into account planning
approvals granted for several new
dwellings.

Officer Response
demolition would have to be clearly justified as part
of the planning process.
Note support and see comment above re extent of
boundary

Officer recommendation

Note support and see comment above re extent of
boundary.

No change proposed

Note Comment

This point has been raised by a
number of respondents and
officer consider it prudent to
make a general reference to
the applications within the
Character Appraisal.

It does not mention an old historic Well
- known as Endstone Well.

This appraisal document defines and records the
special architectural and historic interest of the
proposed conservation area. It would be difficult to
make reference and record every historical or
architectural feature. However, just because a

Amend character appraisal to
mention Henstone Well.

No change proposed

Respondent

Comment

Officer Response
feature is not mentioned it should not be taken that
it is not important.

Officer recommendation

Page 104

APPENDIX 2 – PROPOSED FOXT CONSERVATION AREA BOUNDARY

Page 105

Page 106

FOXT

Conservation Area
Character Appraisal
April 2018

Page 107

FOXT

Conservation Area
Character Appraisal

April 2018

PREPARED BY:
Mel Morris Conservation
67 Brookfields Road
Ipstones
Staffordshire
ST10 2LY

Page 108

Introduction
Consultation
1.

•
•
•

2.

Context
............... 2
Summary of Special Interest and Key Characteristics ............... 2
Designations
............... 3
Planning Policy Context
................3
Location, Setting & Geology

............... 4

Historic Development
Settlement Plan Form
Archaeological Potential

................ 7
............... 9
................ 10

4.

Spatial Analysis

............... 12

5.

Architectural and Historic Quality

................ 14

8.

Problems, Pressures & Capacity for Change

............... 18

7.

General Condition of the Area

................ 19

3.

•
•

Key Recommendations					

................ 20

Further Advice and Information				

............... 20

FIGURES
Figure 1 – Foxt Designations
Figure 2 – Foxt Spatial Analysis
Figure 3 - Indicative Tree Cover

HISTORIC MAPS AND PHOTOGRAPHS
Plate 1 – William Yates map of the County of Staffordshire 1775 (extract) – by permission
Staffordshire Record Society
Plate 2 – First edition Ordnance Survey map of 1881 (1:2500 scale)
Plate 3 – Extract from the Tithe map of 1843 (D4044/1 - Staffordshire Record Office)
Plate 4 – Extract from the Tithe map of 1843 (D4044/1 - Staffordshire Record Office)

Photographs © Mel Morris Conservation

Page 109

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

CONTENTS

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

INTRODUCTION
This appraisal document defines and records the special architectural and historic interest of Foxt
& also identifies opportunities for enhancement. It follows the model set out in Historic England’s
guidance: ‘Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management’ - Historic England Advice
Note 1 (pub. 25 Feb 2016).
Every local planning authority has a duty to assess from time to time if any of their areas (which
are not conservation areas) contain special architectural or historic interest the character or
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance (section 69 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990). They shall then, following a review and, depending
upon the results, designate those areas as conservation areas. This appraisal of FOXT has followed
this legal process and duty.
Conservation area designation leads to an obligation that special attention should be paid to
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.
The contents of this Conservation Area Appraisal are intended to be both a guide for owners
and occupiers of buildings and land within the conservation area and a guide for the local
planning authority. The contents are a material consideration when determining applications for
development, dealing with appeals, or proposing works for the preservation or enhancement of the
area.
Consultation
Both Historic England and Government guidance recommends the involvement of residents and
businesses within conservation areas.
This appraisal has been widely circulated and advertised with full public consultation, as set out in
the Council’s ‘Statement of Community Involvement’. A copy of the draft appraisal was placed on
the Council website and at the Council offices in Leek. All comments have been considered in
drawing up the final version of the Appraisal.
The designation of a conservation area at Foxt is part of the Churnet Valley Masterplan. Foxt
overlooks the Churnet Valley.

1

Page 110

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

1.

CONTEXT

Location
1.1
The original hamlet of Foxt sits on a significant spur of Chatsworth Grit sandstone, at
250-260 metres AOD, approximately 1 kilometre from the River Churnet, which flows to its southwest. The settled part of the later 18th century village is strung out along the route of an ancient
packhorse road known as The Casey, but this appraisal is concerned with the focus of the original
settlement at the southern tip of the village. The strategic position of Foxt can best be appreciated
during the winter months from: the A52 descending Kingsleybanks, where there is a long view
across the Churnet Valley; and from the B5053, where filtered views over the trees canopy across
Massey’s Wood and Moseymoor Wood permit views of houses perched along the ridge.
1.2
The presence of the River Churnet appears to have had no specific influence on the
presence of the hamlet and there is little sign that the industrial development of the Churnet Valley
had any effect on its character and early form. Areas of development related to the 18th and
19th century industrial development of the Churnet Valley have been excluded from this appraisal,
following a boundary review, as they are significantly detached from the core of Foxt. This is
assessed in section 4.
1.3
A number of landscape character types are found within the Churnet Valley Area. The
hamlet of Foxt falls within several Landscape Character types, comprising:
• Dissected sandstone cloughs and valleys
• Dissected sandstone highland fringe
Summary of Special Interest and Key Characteristics
1.4
Foxt is primarily a historic landscape with historic buildings meshed within the ancient, part
man-made, part natural, landscape.
1.5
Geographical factors of isolation, geology and landform have exerted an influence on the
lack of development over successive generations, leading to a well-preserved settlement.
1.6
The bare bones of the ancient hamlet are readily understandable; although the earliest
buildings date from the 17th century, or thereabouts, they sit within a much older framework of
crofts and passageways, chiselled in part out of the bedrock and lined by walls of massive stones
formed through field clearance. The kind of features we see are reminiscent of the ‘orthostat’ walls
of Roystone Grange Romano-British site in Derbyshire and Castallack in Cornwall, which dates
from the Iron Age.
1.7
•

2

•
•
•

The key characteristics of the conservation area include the following:
a scenic, dramatic, wooded presence, with stands of trees (native deciduous and tall Scots pine),
clinging to the steep slopes and dominating the Shirley Brook valley
an extensive network of public footpaths, narrow lanes and former packhorse routes,
interlocking and providing a highly permeable public environment
very well-preserved physical evidence of ancient man-made settlement, with a timeless and
organic, fluid character
made up111
of massive stones laid both on end and on bed
rare, early drystone boundary wallsPage

small clusters of farmstead groups of irregular courtyard plan
Important early 17th century farmhouses, built from dark pink gritstone

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

•
•

Designations
1.8
Conservation Areas are protected under the 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act. This primary legislation requires proposals that need planning permission
to preserve or enhance special architectural or historic interest.
1.9
The boundary of the conservation area is illustrated on Figure 1. There are three listed
buildings within the conservation area boundary, Gate Farm, with curtilage garage also marked,
Bolton Farm and the Barn 20 metres north-west of Gate Farm. However, there are many more
vernacular buildings of historic and architectural interest.
1.10 There are four individual trees inside the hamlet protected by Tree Preservation Orders.
A long strip of land to the south of the hamlet, following the route of the Shirley Brook and at
Harston Wood falls within an Site of Special Scientific Interest - The Churnet Valley SSSI. The
Churnet Valley SSSI includes the steep-sided main valley of the River Churnet and a number of
tributary valleys. These valleys retain the largest remaining concentration of semi-natural ancient
woodland in Staffordshire, intermixed with scrub, unimproved neutral and acid grassland and large
areas of mire, marsh and carr. Coarse-grained gritstones of the Chatsworth Grit type outcrop
along the top of Harston Wood. Past land use patterns and the complex geology have resulted in
an intricate soil pattern which is reflected in the vegetation. Dry grasslands occur in the valley of
Shirley Brook, but with the notable addition of common milkwort Polygala vulgaris, another county
rarity.
Planning Policy Context
1.11 National planning policy for the historic environment is all contained within one overarching document, the National Planning Policy Framework (2012). This embodies a holistic view of
the historic environment and is designed to ensure that decisions are not made in isolation without
first considering the significance of the particular aspects of the historic environment and then
addressing economic, social and environmental sustainability issues.
1.12 The main local policies covering conservation areas are found within the Staffordshire
Moorlands Core Strategy (2014). The local planning policy context includes Policy DC2 on The
Historic Environment, Policy DC3 on Landscape and Settlement, Policy DC1 Design Considerations
and Policy C3 Green Infrastructure.
1.13 Core Strategy, Policy SS7, identifies the Churnet Valley as a sustainable tourism area and
Policies R1 and R2 now form part of the adopted development plan and are consistent with the
aims of the Framework, which seeks to support a prosperous rural economy.
1.14 The Churnet Valley Master Plan (2014) is also part of the Core Strategy and the published
guidance is Supplementary Planning Guidance. This will influence planning decisions and other
initiatives and strategies affecting this area. The overarching principle is one of sustaining and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environmental quality of the area, its settlements and
its hinterland through managed change which provides for rural regeneration largely based on
sustainable tourism. The Plan identified the review of a potential Conservation Area at Foxt as a key
action.

Page 112

3

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

2.

LOCATION, SETTING AND GEOLOGY

2.1
Foxt sits on a band of Chatsworth Grit sandstone, which outcrops in a prominent
formation over the Shirley Brook valley, creating a highly distinctive feature of the landscape,
although now largely obscured by pine woods. Out of this stone and gathered from field clearance
are hewn large boulders forming the characteristic enclosed walls and buildings of the historic
settlement.
2.2
To the west of this band of Chatsworth Grit is a band of Rough Rock sandstone and,
further west still, the Lower Coal Measures mudstones, siltstones and sandstones, which were
mined for coal deposits and ironstone on either side of Blackbank Brook.

Above - standing outcrop of Chatsworth Grit at Oldridge to the
south of Foxt. This formation is typical of the bluff below Foxt, now
hidden by trees.
Left - view along the narrow circuit path to the south of the crofts,
with Chatsworth Grit bluffs and tenacious woodland

2.3
The River Churnet and its tributaries contain deeply incised wooded valleys associated
with Carboniferous and Permo-Triassic sandstones. The valleys are strongly undulated with a
pronounced rounded landform above the valley sides and there are rock outcrops to valley tops.
The rocky outcrop on which Foxt was first built is now largely smothered in trees and vegetation,
although its striking natural rocky form may have been a major landmark for many centuries. The
acid soils, brown earths and stagnogley soils originally supported vegetation communities between
lowland and upland heath. These now support extensive woodland areas.

4

One of the particular characteristics of the Churnet Valley, and Foxt, is the series of
2.4
“cloughs” which run from the moor down to the River Churnet. There are three distinctive cloughs
which lie to the east and west of Foxt; the smallest of these, Hoff Clough (through which runs a
small stream, fed by an old well and spring line), lies to the immediate east and south of the old
village. Slightly further to the east runs the large clough which is formed by the Shirley Brook and to
the west runs the clough created from Blackbank Brook.
The name ‘hoff ’ also applies to the large area of land surrounding the old village enclosures,
2.5
113words; ‘hoh’ meaning heel, spur of land or
and could be derived from a number ofPage
Old English

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

projecting ridge of land (Anglo Saxon), or ‘haugr’ meaning mound or hill (Old Norse). The name
is distinctive and may have once applied to all of the land forming the projecting spur, as shown on
the Tithe map which is overlaid with the names of the fields (Plate 4). The fields to the immediate
north and east of the settlement were all once called Big and Little Hoff. The derivation is certainly
ancient and may point to the early origins of the village.
2.6
All conservation areas have a setting, but few places in the Staffordshire Moorlands have
as dramatic and dynamic a setting as Foxt; this will be best known to those intimately acquainted
with the myriad of footpaths to the south and east of the settlement. From the south, the spur of
gritstone clad in Scots pine towers above the valley of the Shirley Brook and the land drops sharply
to the south.
2.7 It seems probable,
given the location, the
steep terrain of the crofts,
and the tremendous
difficulties in clearing the
rocky ground for pasture,
that the hamlet must
have had some defensive
purpose, even if this was
only subliminal in the
minds and choices of
the early settlers. The
enclosures supported
a form of early pastoral
farming. The presence of
View of Foxt from Oldridge. The large green upland pasture, visible above
the hamlet on the spur
the treeline within the Shirley Brook valley, was cleared as part of the
and the bluff beneath are
establishment of the original settlement
visible from a considerable
distance and are set apart
from the presence of industry within the Churnet Valley. This was the case even when industries,
plateways and tramways crept up the valleys. The rural isolation and strategic position are
particularly important to the historic significance of the settlement and its dramatic hilltop setting.
2.8
The sustainable location of the hamlet, the ‘Old Town,’ was made possible by tapping into
a water supply from the hills and streams to the north. For centuries it was served by an ancient
watercourse, ‘Spout Gutter’, traces of which can still be seen running parallel with ‘The Casey’.
The presence of a water pump at Manor House is related to an underground cistern, which may
have been dug into the rock, a means of storing rainwater, perhaps for soft water, or for times of
dwindling supply. There is also a natural spring on the edge of the village, known as Oldstone Well
(see figure 2), which was reached via the main footpath and a flight of stone steps from the village
(see page 17) and prior to the construction of the ‘Spout Gutter’ it seems likely that the villagers
used this spring-fed supply. The wide road of ‘The Casey’ (itself possibly part of a planned medieval
expansion of the settlement), leading from the Fox and Goose pub northwards, contrasts with the
huddle of buildings in the core of the original hamlet.
There were once extensive woodland blocks and belts of deciduous and conifer trees along
2.9
the valley sides of Blackbank Brook and Shirley Brook, although this appears to have been regularly
replenished over the generations. Areas of woodland were cleared by assarting in order to enable
cultivation and pasture and the resulting field pattern to the south of the village is of small and
irregular enclosures. To the north there is Ancient Woodland at Blackbank Wood, which is part of
Ipstones Park.

Page 114

5

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

View of Foxt from Kingsley Banks. The hamlet is prominent from this direction, dominated by Scots pine, and its
relationship to the Churnet Valley in the foreground is clear.
View of Foxt from the B5053 at Ipstones. The
settlement is clear trailing along the ridge, above
the line of woodland in Moseymoor Wood. Its
rural setting is an important part of its significance

2.10
Tall hedgerows and hedgebanks line
the sunken lanes on the winding network
when approaching from Froghall, limiting views
and creating a strong sense of enclosure and
antiquity. In places the small, intimate wooded
valleys contrast with the glimpses of wider
distant views towards Ipstones Edge.
2.11
The land between Whiston Common
and Shirley Common provides long distance
views across to Foxt, which is a prominent
landmark. The buildings are largely cloaked
in the canopy of pine trees but there are
occasional glimpses of a rooftop and chimneys.
There are important views from Oldridge, on
the south side of the Shirley Brook, along the
route of the public footpath between 220 and
235 metres AOD.

6

View of Foxt from the lane passing between Whiston
Common and Shirley Common - the strategic importance
of the settlement is much clearer from the east, although
buildings are shrouded in trees. The Big Hoff is prominent
and an essential ingredient of the hamlet

Page 115

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

3.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

3.1
The place-name Foxt is old English (OE Fox, wist) but it was not recorded at Domesday
(1086). The physical evidence for the early establishment of the settlement, however, is compelling
and Iron Age farmers may have settled the spur which overlooks the Churnet Valley. Its strategic
importance is best appreciated from the Kingsley road (A52) at around 200 metres AOD, where
there is a direct line of sight to the knoll of the old ‘town’ of Foxt, a hamlet with as many as seven
enclosures, and 17th century farmsteads, possibly the site of many more earlier houses. The first
mention of the place, then known as ‘Foxwiss’ (the lair of the fox), is in 11761. Even today foxes
dens survive in the banks and tree-covered escarpments along the Shirley Brook.
Without documentary evidence for settlement, there is no means of attributing a positive
3.2
date without archaeological excavation. Many of the assumptions postulated here are based on
circumstances, including geographical factors. We can compare the settlement with others within
the region, and further afield, and make informed observations by comparing characteristics but
other regions are much better understood, so whether Foxt started off as an Iron Age group of
farms, a Romano-British settlement2, or a medieval settlement is not known – we do know that
it exhibits characteristics of the earliest settlements, located at the tip of a promontary, which
could be defended, and it is significantly different from the nucleated settlements of the Midlands,
where houses front a street with rear crofts aligned along a street. Upland hilltop settlements of
North Wales containing similar pear-shaped enclosures, defended by stone walls and thought to
be associated with the smelting and forging of iron in the first century BC, provide a tantalizing
glimpse of potential origins. It has been suggested that in the later 7th century there is evidence for
Celtic culture on the edge of the Peak, at Rudyard on the flank of the Gun ridge3. It is also equally
possible that occupation was intermittent and that the earlier settlement was re-colonised in the
medieval period, re-using stones from earlier structures – certainly the standing physical evidence of
buildings is limited to 17th century structures.

1

Oxford Dictionary of English Placenames, p177

2
Roystone Grange (Peak District)– with its orthostat walls and pear-shaped enclosures has local regional
relevance
3

Andrew Breeze – Staffordshire Archaeological & Historical Society Transactions- ‘Britons at Rudyard’, 2010

4

A ‘liberty’ applied to places with special rights or privileges

Page 116

Pl.1 1775 map of Foxt from William
Yates map (Staffordshire Record Society)

3.3
In the early 12th century the Norman family of Verdon were
in possession of Alton and were granted the manor of Ipstones
and in 1292 their sub-tenant, William de Ipstones, held the manors
of Ipstones and Foxwyst, by agreement with Theobald de Verdon.
Robert de Foxwyst appears in the Subsidy Roll of 1327 and again
1333. Whilst the manor of Ipstones consisted of the townships of
Ipstones and Foxt, the ecclesiastical parish of Foxt was split between
part of Ipstones (which lay within Leek parish) and Checkley,
of which it was a detached part. Foxt was associated with the
ecclesiastical parish of Checkley around the late 16th century, and
it was known as the Liberty of Foxt in 15634. This odd arrangement continued until 1897 when
it became a parish in its own right – Foxt with Whiston. In practical terms, the alignment of the
parishes was until 1897 formed by the route of a man-made watercourse know as ‘Spout Gutter’
roughly following the line of The Casey, and was recorded in 1781. However, precisely how far west
into Ipstones the township extended is unknown, as there is no map recording this.

7

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL
8

3.4
Richard Egerton inherited the Manor of Ipstones in 1627 but in 1633 sold his reversion, to
pay for debts, to Matthew Craddock who then died in 1636. His son George Craddock conveyed
the Manor of Ipstones in 1639 to William Fowler and John Hollins of Moseley as Trustees for sale
and payment of certain debts. In 1649 William Fowler the surviving Trustee agreed with the ancient
tenants and farmers of Ipstones to purchase the Manor and estates of Ipstones. Thus it was that
the Manor came into the hands of the Freeholders of Ipstones.5

Plate 2 - Ordnance Survey map of 1881 (above)
Plate 3 - Tithe map extract (left) dated 1843
(Staffordshire Record Office)

Plate 4 - Foxt Tithe map of 1843 - coloured for this appraisal, to show the pattern of different ownerships and
tenancies, with field names added (D4044/1 - Staffordshire Record Office)
5
Keele]

Copy of the original deed of Ipstones from William Fowler and others SA12/1/3 [Sneyd Ashcombe collection,

Page 117

3.6
A detailed analysis of the Tithe map and Award reveals how the land was parcelled up
after enclosure (perhaps as late as 1649 when the manor lands were sold to the ancient tenants)
so that the main freeholders owned large amalgamated blocks. The former town field lay to
the immediate north-east of the old part of the village, divided into linear ‘strip’ amalgamation.
However, the earliest form of community farming may have taken place on the raised land on the
eastern slopes of the village, above the Hoff Clough. Here the fields all share the same derivative
name – Big Hoff, and they are separated by the massive ‘orthostat,’ unmortared, stone walls. These
suggest early origins, even potentially preserved remains from prehistoric field systems.
3.7
The main landowners retained their interests in the parts of the woods running to the west
of the settlement, through Blackbank, and these were generally not sub-let, timber being a profitable
long-term investment; these areas were also the focus for mining interests. The land in the valley
bottom is quite wet and boggy and may have been used occasionally as hay meadow.
Settlement Plan Form
3.8
The core of Foxt, which was known as the ‘Old Town,’ contains highly distinctive, irregular,
teardrop or leaf-shaped enclosures or crofts. Most of these crofts contained a ‘toft’ with a
farmhouse and farmstead concentrated in one corner of each croft, but forming a variety of
irregular, loose courtyard plans. All but one of these survives in more-or-less its original form
with clusters of buildings dating from or originating in the 17th century (Roycroft, which has been
developed, is excluded from the conservation area), and there has been no modern development
within the enclosures to disturb the well-preserved pattern.
There is the potential that the lack of
3.9
development within the settlement has preserved
a much earlier field system. Elsewhere within the
high points of the Churnet Valley there have been
discoveries of prehistoric rock carvings, with cup
and ring marks and it is feasible that this place holds
similar evidence, as yet undiscovered.
3.10 Deeds for Gate Farmhouse of 1628
describe the variety of functions which took place
within the enclosure and beyond in their part of
the redistributed former open field and woods:
Massive boulder or ‘orthostat’ walls opposite Gate Farm
“the dwelling house, the barn in the fold, the
garden at the lower end of the house, the lower
9
hempyard, the orchard, the croft beneath the orchard, the Stockings, the Pringle, the Weyte lands,
the Doacle Ridding, the Green Hills ...”. Riddings is located to the south of the town field and
comes from the word Ryddynges meaning a clearing in a wood.

Page 118

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

3.5
By the date of the Tithe map and Award (1843), the freeholders owning property in the
village were Joseph Ball, occupying the site of the present Manor House, William Ball and Charles
Ball (the present Yew Tree Cottage), John Wheeldon - Gate Farm, Thomas Brandon - Brandon
House Farm, Thomas Mackenzie - Bolton Farm, and Thomas Sillito - Rock House Farm. Thomas
Heath, William Ball and William Fallowes were freeholders without a house in the hamlet. The
Snow family were freeholders at Park Head with land in the Ipstones part of the former manor
lands. The earliest standing buildings date from the early 17th century but within the original
hamlet new development has been restricted to the reconstruction of the ancient houses and
farmsteads (mainly during the 18th and early 19th century), the development within the vicinity of
the Fox and Goose pub and some post WWII housing within the northern croft (excluded from
the conservation area).

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

3.11 The crofts are bounded by drystone walls, some with massive blocks of stone at the base
- large ‘orthostat’ stones are a distinctive characteristics of some upland areas in the Peak District
of early A.D. origin, and these are separated by narrow sunken lanes and passageways. This web
of relationships made a highly interactive form of community living and small-scale farming, which
may predate the ‘nucleated’ settlements of the medieval period. Some of the original passages
have been recently ‘stopped up’, and this is a pattern which can be seen from the late C19 but
the majority remain and are a rare and very important survival of the original settlement pattern,
where farmers drove their cattle and sheep between the houses to areas of communal grazing.
3.12 A cluster of small buildings strung out opposite the Fox and Goose is of the scale and
pattern which is indicative of C18 encroachment onto former common land, perhaps the site of a
village green, as this was placed close to the medieval village pond, the site of which is visible on the
1881 OS map and which is now occupied by a bungalow - Stonewalls - (outside the conservation
area).
3.13 The later medieval development of the village appears to have continued along the route of
‘The Casey’, a main roadway following a packhorse route which was laid out with a generous width.
Whilst houses are scattered in sporadic clusters along its length, at Town Head, Whirleylow, and at
Park Head, there is no evidence of a croft and toft pattern of development along The Casey, and
this may have been planned but never needed.
3.14 Not enough is known about the structure of Anglo-Saxon society and its farming practices
to identify when the open-field system was introduced. The open fields of Foxt were certainly
established in the medieval period to the north-east of the original village but before that it may
have been a small amount of arable land, in common with known Anglo Saxon examples in betterresearched parts of the country6. Were the free-draining fields which had been extensively cleared
to the south-east of the escarpment communally farmed as common pasture? The links between
this area and the crofts were important as they were connected by a circuitous path and interlinked
paths from the farmsteads. The walled enclosures suggest the need to drive livestock through the
settlement to areas of grazing. Without evidence for the distinctive ridge and furrow, perhaps this
area was communally grazed, an area that was overlooked and could be protected.

Left - green turfed paths between crofts adjoining Gate Farm, an ancient ‘cow lane’
Right - holloway leading from the Shirley Brook to the settlement, a deep depression linked to the circuit path

Archaeological Potential

10

3.15 Much could be done to discover more about the origins of the settlement and its occupants. The foci of this search would be the farmsteads within the small irregular enclosures and the
outlying fields which encircle these homesteads.

Page 119

6

The Making of the English Landscape – W.G.Hoskins

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

Above left - section of early, massive, boulder wall to
the Rock House Farm croft. Above right - tall, dark
red drystone wall to Brandon House Farm croft
Left - large boulders buried in the bottom of the wall
at Brandon House Farm croft

3.16 There is sporadic evidence for human activity during the prehistoric period from around
Foxt. The earliest evidence, of flint scatter, may be of Mesolithic date. A possible Neolithic standing
stone, incised with four cup-marks and another, possibly contemporary, stone incised with a cup
and ring mark were found at Ramshorn (4 miles south-east of Foxt). Evidence for Bronze Age
activity tends to concentrate within the Moorlands in the form of burial mounds. Many of the
numerous barrows known to exist (or that once existed) in the landscape of the Staffordshire
Moorlands were first recorded, and some excavated, in the mid 19th century by Thomas Bateman
and Samuel Carrington. These include five barrows they excavated at Threelows in Farley parish.
The presence of the name ‘low’ (OE hlaw), a ‘mound, hill’ is found in many places in the Peak District
and locally, such as Whirleylow along ‘The Casey’, Cadlow on the northern boundary of Foxt, Pike
Low and Three Lows – whilst many may simply refer to the presence of a hill, some are indicative
of the presence of a burial mound (a barrow) which also indicates early occupation or intermittent
settlement by Iron Age farmers7. However, Old English place name evidence can refer directly to
geographical features connected with the landform and is not reliable for identifying settlement.
3.17 There is, however, given the promontary position of the southern tip of the hamlet
overlooking the Churnet Valley, archaeological potential that the hamlet of Foxt was indeed built
within an earlier prehistoric or Iron Age field system, and if so it would be a rare survival. For this
reason, any future development within the conservation area should be accompanied by a detailed
archaeological evaluation.
7
According to P. Stimpson, a ‘low’ (burial mound) within the northern croft at Rock House Farm was removed
some years ago and the ground was levelled (pers. comm. March 2018).

11

Page 120

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

4.

SPATIAL ANALYSIS

4.1
The description of each area should be read in conjunction with the Spatial Analysis Map Figure 2.
Guide to Map
The Spatial Analysis Map is annotated with the following:
Panoramic Views
4.2
Panoramic views are limited to the best defining and most memorable views within and
around Foxt. They are generally broad and often panoramas, sometimes linking subjects in the
middle distance and far horizon. Some of the best panoramic views are from private properties,
particularly Bolton Farmhouse and Manor House, and in the case of Manor House this is part of its
significance and status. Views are also assessed under ‘Setting.’
Positive Buildings
4.3
Positive buildings are those that are of special architectural or historic interest, either as
individual structures or as part of a collective group. These include buildings that may be in a poor
condition but which contribute to the historic or architectural character of the settlement, including
re-used or redundant farm buildings. Many buildings which are identified as positive may have early
origins which are as yet not known or understood, (such as Brandon House Farm) and where an
evaluation will be required prior to considering an application for demolition or alteration. Positive
buildings also include those identified on the detailed 1:2500 scale Ordnance Survey map of 1881
(see plate 2). The local authority is likely to strongly resist proposals for the demolition of any
Positive Buildings.
IOS - Important Open Space (private)
4.4
The nodes of teardrop-shaped enclosures contain paddocks and crofts which have shaped
the form of the hamlet for generations. These private open spaces contrast with the clusters
of development in corners of each historic enclosure. They are an intrinsic characteristic of the
settlement, leading to glimpsed views and a strong sense of the antiquity of the settlement. They
include a small parcel of land sitting on a lower plateau, which has been known as Fernlea Farm
in recent times and was omce known as Babin’s Croft, although it does not contain any historic
buildings.
There are aspects of spatial analysis which are not shown on the maps, as follows:
Public Open Space
4.5
Between Rock House Farm and Brandon House Farm the public domain is wide with a
narrow roadway and generous green verges. The same generous green space and verges line the
lane leading to Gate Farm. The old drovers lanes, or ‘cow lanes’ (some now pathways) leading
between the crofts are softened by gentle contours and turfed ground, much of the undulations
worn away by generations of wear and weather. This organic, almost fluid, semi-rural character
of the lanes and undulating walls, with occasional turf capping, is specific to Foxt. Leading into the
hamlet from Four Lane Ends the roads diverge and open out, on either side of Hockley House.

12

Glimpse Views
Glimpses between buildings and walls, through the hamlet, over walls and across the crofts
4.6
are a particular characteristic of Foxt. The lanes around Brandon House Farm croft are much
lower; a combination of years of farming the land and erosion of the lane have led to this pattern.

Page 121

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

The glimpsed views are so numerous that they have not been plotted. Care should be taken to
consider the impact on the glimpsed views in undertaking any development.
4.7
The spaces around buildings are particularly important in Foxt. The main road through Foxt
is split into two sides of a central hub of buildings, some of which were the site of a stables serving
the Fox and Goose, although the character of that part of the hamlet could be strengthened by
restoring historic finishes to buildings. The cottages have probably encroached onto an earlier open
space, or village green. The view looking south towards this fork in the road is an important one.
Conversely, Rose Cottage which has an outlook to the west, forms a prominent focal point leading
into the village from the west and Froghall.
Walls
4.8
Along the circuit path which circumnavigates the hamlet (now a public footpath), the track
is partly lined with boundary walls and gate posts, although a number of sections have collapsed.
To the north of the settlement there is sandstone outcropping. Large ‘orthostat’ walls fall along
the boundaries of the crofts and the wider field boundaries in the earliest parts of the settlement.
Walls around Brandon House Farm are much taller than the drystone boundary walls found along
tradtional field boundaries. These prevent clear views across the crofts and instead we see glimpses
of rooftops, a particular characteristic.
Conservation Area Boundary
4.9
The boundary follows well-defined and distinct physical boundaries. The land to the
south-east of the village of Foxt is included within the boundary as it is striking terrain, part of the
cultivated and man-made, early, settled landscape. Land to the south and the east incorporates
the old circuit path which wraps around the ‘bluff ’, the steep escarpments and the main exposed
geological formations of Chatsworth Grit, which define the hamlet. The boundary to the east
stretches from the ancient holloway down to the watercourses in the valley, and the hand-made
open landscape, leading to Hoff Clough, where clearance combined with the construction of partorthostat walls, have scoured out a generous open setting to the hamlet, of free-draining soils, all of
which forms an important open space and foil to development, particularly in views from Oldridge.
4.10 The boundary follows the lane and footpath on the northern side of the hamlet, but
excludes the modern development of houses within the former Roycroft. Although this falls
outside the proposed conservation area, it should be recognised as an area of archaeological
potential.
4.11 The setting of conservation areas is not normally included within designations but there
are exceptions, where the man-made landscape and the special historic interest are inseparable;
the land forming the enclosures defines the character and appearance of the hamlet and the
well-drained land to the south-east is part of the ‘cleared’ landscape, defined by ‘orthostat’ walls
and framed by holloways, former packhorse or drovers roads. The northern boundary follows
the alignment of a public footpath, which was established by the 1880s. It runs through one of
the former crofts, part of Little Hoff, and includes the important ‘orthostat’ walls which follow an
irregular alignment.
4.12 The southern boundary follows the steep cliff and bluffs, to enable the circuit footpath and
lower croft to be incorporated into the conservation area. The low-lying water meadows along the
valley bottom are excluded from the conservation area.
4.13 A review of the boundary undertaken as part of this appraisal, considered all of the
developed land along ‘The Casey’ running from the Fox and Goose as far as Park Head. However,
the level of alteration of properties and new development, combined with the nature of the
development being strung out in micro-clusters along this journey, lacks the cohesive character of a

Page 122

13

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL
14

single area of special interest. The option of incorporating the route of the Spout Gutter as a linear
link between all of the clusters was seriously considered. However, this has lost some of its integrity
and is now largely an archaeological feature, despite its survival at Park Head. It is considered that
this earthwork derives wider recognition and should be added to the Historic Environment Record
as an identified constraint. Conservation Area designation would not in itself prevent the loss or
piecemeal alteration of this earthwork.
4.14 The presence of a high level of industrial archaeological interest and transport networks
within the valleys of Blackbank Brook and Shirley Brook is not related directly to the special
interest of Foxt, the hamlet, and is set some distance apart. For these reasons, the conservation
area has not included areas of industrial interest or cottages and houses associated with either the
development of industry in the valley bottom close to the Froghall canal, or at Bolton’s copper
works.

5.

ARCHITECTURAL & HISTORIC QUALITY

5.1
There are a relatively small number of historic buildings within the conservation area;
these are mainly 17th or 18th century in origin, with a few dating from the early-mid 19th century.
Buildings are described as clusters, which relate to historic farmsteads.
Historic Buildings
5.2
The earliest surviving buildings in the area are early 17th century in origin. There were
five principal farms - Gate Farm, Bolton Farm, Manor Farm, Rock House Farm and Brandon House
Farm. There may have been others, perhaps smaller and occupied by husbandmen farmers, such as
Yew Tree Cottage, which has a datestone of 1690.
5.3
Manor House holds a commanding view
looking west towards Mow Cop. It was built in 1862
for Thomas and Elizabeth Ball (a datestone - AD 1862
T & E B - survives in the rear gable). The introduction of the name ‘manor house’ was a mid 19th
century fashion, and it may not have related to the
site of a manor house, rather a Hall house. The house
is quite large and imposing designed with raised stone
quoins, Flemish bond brickwork to the front, stonecoped gables and mullioned windows (removed) with
chamfered brick surrounds. It is very old-fashioned
for its day and there was a clearly conscious effort to design a house which reflected the antiquity
of the family, as the Ball family inherited the freehold from 1649, although were not named as one
of the ancient tenants. The current owners confirm that the original beams of the previous house
were re-used inside. The present house sits on a prominent ridge of gritstone, which outcrops
to the rear, although its predecessor looked south and west, nestled between its complex of farm
buildings. The house has formal gardens and a distinctive
coursed stone boundary wall, which sets it apart.
5.4
The coachhouse at Manor Farm has shaped stonecoped gables and contains a small and quaint dovecote
in the gable end, with three flight holes and ledges. This
is probably 18th century in origin. There were a more
extensive range of farm builings, including pigsties, dairy
and potato store or ice-house of substantial construction,
which
had123
been buried by a previous owner. The dark pink
Page

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

gritstone farm buildings to the east, of which the lower part are probably 17th century, were split
by a narrow ‘cow lane’, and the long range of barns served Bolton Farmhouse in 1849, forming
a dispersed plan farm, whilst The Grange was farmed by Yewtree Cottage; there is evidence of
extensive reapportionment of property taking place. To the east of Manor House is a stirk or calf
rearing house, probably early C18, with upper hayloft, in fair condition. The barns, which once fell
on the east side of a little lane, have been in a dilapidated condition for over 40 years, are imposing
and contain the usual combination of cow byres, hay lofts and upper floor store houses. Other
buildings are too ruined to identify their original function.
5.5 Bolton Farmhouse (grade II) - Bolton
Farmhouse is an important 17th century
farmhouse, of two storeys with attics, and with
chamfered mullioned windows and cavetto drip
moulds to the gable and rear elevation. It is built
in mainly red gritstone and is the largest of the
surviving 17th century yeoman farmhouses. It has
a main outlook to the south, although that was not
its original front elevation, which was via a lobbyentrance doorway in the north wall, later obscured
by a lean-to porch. It has a big central chimney
stack serving back-to-back hearths. An original wrought iron farm gate has been re-hung and to
enable vehicular access in its place a wider replica gate,
with scrolled bracket, a lovely authentic detail.
5.6
The stone farm buildings at The Grange were
once farmed by the occupants of Bolton Farm; they
form an important and prominent cluster, a focal point
of the lane. The main barn to the lane contains at least
four phases of mellow pink stonework, and has lost
a stone-coped gable; the visible traces of the earlier
forms of the agricultural uses is a testament to the
longevity of the hamlet.
5.7
Brandon House Farm and Brandon House are two distinct properties but were once
part of the same complex. The stone-built Brandon House Farm may have 17th century origins,
possibly a raised eaves, although this has been obscured externally. It retains a tiled roof and unusual large quoins to the upper windows, which are possibly re-used quoins from the former southern
gable. It has lost its original stone-coped gables. It would merit detailed investigation and recording.
Its rear barn contains part of a cruck frame. Brandon House was built between 1843 and 1881,
and is brick in common with Manor House.

15

Page 124

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL
16

5.8
Rock House Farm
The barn closest to the road has been rebuilt in recent times, but a number of the other barns
appear to have 17th or 18th century origins. The original gritstone farmhouse has an end bay
entrance to the south, possibly originally a lobby entrance to the north (?) and a substantial stack
with back-to-back hearths. Given the plan form, it probably has 17th century origins, and appears
to have been remodelled in the early 19th century. It is an important building deserving further
investigation.

5.9
Gate Farmhouse & Barn (both
grade II)
The farmhouse is dated 1624, and is the
oldest known building in the ‘Old Town’.
The historic fabric is very well preserved,
with most of its original window and door
openings, and it sits perched on its own
small hillock above the lane, prominent and
picturesque. The house contains three bays
of which the furthest bay was separated to
form independent accommodation, a rare
survival. It is not a true two storey dwelling
as the first floor is contained part within
the roof, served by a gable-end window and a single stone-coped dormer with the datestone. The
building contains two Tudor-arched doorways, once later blocked, forming a cross passage.

5.10 The barn is reputedly late 17th century, formerly a cow-house, probably heightened with
copings re-used to form a hayloft (as was the barn at Manor House), but the detached garage to
the farmhouse is also a 17th century building, with substantial masonry and deep plinth, modified.

Page 125

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

Historic Buildings along ‘The Casey’:
5.11 Along the route of the Casey, the packhorse route which was formalised, are smithies and
public houses, one developed with stabling to accommodate packhorse traffic (now the Fox and
Goose), although reputedly for horses carrying coal and iron ore.
5.12 The Fox and Goose, and its former
stabling opposite, later converted into dwellings,
and most of which was demolished in 1968, form
an important historic cluster. Formerly known as
The Hollybush, the original date of the Fox and
Goose is not known, but the block-mullioned
windows on the rear wing and its formal character
suggest that it was built in the second half of the
18th century and was initially built to face the
roadway. It was probabaly extended to provide
accommodation for travellers during a period of
increased traffic.
5.13 The Malthouse, which stands to the south
of the pub, was probably used by the landlord
during the making and brewing of beer on the
premises. Although converted to a dwelling, it retains its simple, non-domestic character to the lane.
5.14 Brook Cottage is a well-preserved historic dwelling, with its original wrought-iron railings,
spear-topped with urn finials, of the early 19th
century.

Endstone Well
The spring which is known as ‘Endstone Well’
does not contain the remains of any dressed
stone surround, but its presence is marked on
the north side of the footpath by an old flight of
steps (right) which led down from the village.

Page 126

17

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

6. PROBLEMS, PRESSURES & CAPACITY FOR CHANGE
Loss of footpaths, lanes and boundary walls
6.1
A number of the narrow stone walled lanes separating the crofts have been ‘stopped up’
during the last century, and in recent years, and removed from public access. Some of the original
walls, separating the crofts, have also been removed in recent years and the historic settlement
pattern is at risk of being significantly harmed by lack of recognition of its rarity and early origins.
Changes to drystone walls
6.2
The presence of large up-ended stones and boulders in the base of walls is generally
thought to indicate early settlement, as the largest boulders were probably rolled here when the
fields were first created, cleared and enclosed, as woodland was assarted. Diagnostic features of
early walls may include the presence of large boulders and orthostats, though absolute dating is
not possible. Drystone walls of the modern type were probably rare before the 16th century and
these differences should be preserved.
6.3
Boundaries surrounding the enclosures are also built from large rounded stones, many a
dark red colour from lichen and iron staining within the sandstone, and many taller than average
drystone walls.
6.4
The highly distinctive character of the Foxt walls is at risk from being lost by both collapse
of walls and drystone walling practices which do not preserve the local characteristics; within the
Ipstones and Foxt area some replacement walls are over-worked, with dressed stones, without
simply placing existing stones judiciously in the wall to follow the local, rugged characteristics.
Loss of traditional or historic finishes and boundary walls
6.5
The boundary wall serving the Fox and Goose pub has been completely removed and
replaced with a concrete kerb and a prominent forecourt of tarmac. Whilst there are access constraints with visibility for emerging traffic, restoration of some of the stone-walled enclosure would
considerably enhance the character of the settlement.
6.6
The pub has had a large number of alterations and extensions, including black-and-white
timbering and upvc windows and conservatory, which have obscured its age and authenticity. Considerable works could be undertaken to restore and enhance its Moorlands character.
6.7
Likewise, Yew Tree Cottage has been considerably altered with timber-framed walls. Some
of the original masonry of 1690 is still visble and its presence in the hamlet could be enhanced
and its significance better revealed through judicious unpicking of some additions, such as modern
canopies.
Additional development and loss of crofts

18

6.8
Foxt is special for the rare surviving relationship of farmstead and enclosure or croft within
the earliest settled part of the village. The introduction of new housing on crofts within this historic
pattern of development would cause considerable harm to this ‘essence.’ Prior to the conservation
area designation and adoption of the character appraisal, there have been a number of recent
housing developments approved withinPage
the centre
of Foxt. The designation of the conservation
127

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

area and adoption of the character appraisal will in future, be a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications and help guide appropriate development. The development
of linear housing in one of the original crofts along the northern edge of the settlement has already
led to this being excluded from the proposed conservation area boundary.
Setting & Views
As a settlement with prominence in long distance views across the landscape, from Ipstones,
6.9
Kingsley, Shirley Common, and Oldridge, the settlement of Foxt is positioned on a prominent band
of Chatsworth Grit sandstone, where it outcrops at the head of the valley.
6.10 The highest point of the early settlement, being 265 metres AOD, is comparable with the
height of the church in Ipstones, and this means that, although small, it has a strong presence in
views, particularly from Ipstones and the B5053, where the later development along ‘The Casey’,
creates a more emphatic presence.
6.11 The presence of Foxt in views across the landscape, and whether or how it had a strategic
role as a settlement, is not fully understood. Views of the Manor House from the B5053 south of
Ipstones suggest that the house was deliberately placed in the 19th century to command views
across the landscape. Its predecessor was nested between its farmbuildings and did not have a
relationship with inward and outward views. There was no historic grand conscious design and the
placement of buildings was related to topographical constraints within each ‘parcel’ or ‘croft’ - the
result is a serendipitous picturesque character. Development which affects the isolated setting of
the hamlet has the potential to cause harm.

7.

GENERAL CONDITION OF THE AREA

Buildings
7.1
The nature of the settlement, with its large, relatively inaccessible, crofts for modern
farming practices, tractors and machinery, has both preserved the settlement pattern but also led
to the lack of viability of farms, as their land-locked nature has prevented expansion. The lack of
modern farm sheds is indicative of non-working farms. This has in turn affected the character of
the settlement and many of the farm buildings have fallen out of use, some are in a ruinous state.
Manor House in particular, has four or five historic buildings which have no viable use; several are in
and advanced state of dereliction, with the heightened risk that they will be lost forever.
In view of this set of conditions, it will be important that future viability of these groups of
7.2
buildings recognises the intrinsic value of the particularly important historic farm buildings (which
may be beyond normally accepted conversion criteria), prevents fragmentation of the crofts, formal
subdivision, and breaches in the boundary walls, whilst enabling uses which preserve the buildings,
their relationships and plan form. It is important to recognise that here at least agricultural use
for all the buildings is unlikely to be tenable; home-based businesses are ideal for new uses but the
hamlet is unlikely to be able to sustain holiday cottages throughout. The more significant farms are
those where the whole farmstead can still be understood. For example, new uses have been found
for the farm buildings at Gate Farm and Rock House Farm. Proposals for new uses should use the
Staffordshire Farmstead Assessment Framework.

Page 128

19

FOXT CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL

Landscape and Ecology
7.3
The current assessment has not included an assessment of the local ecology within the
landscape. Consideration of the wider links between the landscape within the conservation area
and the SSSI along the valley is recommended.
Trees
7.4
The important, visually significant trees within and around the proposed conservation area
are marked on Figure 3 - Indicative Tree Cover. Tree positions have been estimated not measured,
and so should not necessarily be regarded as accurate. All surveying/estimating was carried out
from public highways or public rights of way.
7.5
Any representation of existing trees should not be regarded as exhaustive – the fact that
any particular tree/group/woodland is not shown does not necessarily mean it would not be
considered significant and trees should not be interpreted on the plans as necessarily accurate in
terms of numbers and relative sizes of trees, nor actual extent of groups/woodlands.
7.6
The tree condition (physiological or structural) and tree safety have not been assessed as
part of this appraisal.

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS
The following are reommended areas of future investigation or focus:
•

A programme of recording important walls as they stand should be instigated

•

Targeted evaluation of sites with archaeological potential

•

Identification of key buildings for focussed repair

•

Designation of all publicly accessible paths and ‘cow lanes’ as public footpaths or RUPPS (roads
used as public paths), in recognition of their historic communal use over centuries

FURTHER ADVICE AND INFORMATION
For further advice and information please contact the Regeneration team at Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council & High Peak Borough Council:
Tel: 0345 6053013
Email: regeneration@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

20

National Organisations:
Historic England,
10 Holliday St, BIRMINGHAM B1 1TG
tel: 0121 625 6820
www.HistoricEngland.org.uk

Page 129

Page 130

Page 131

¯

Tank
242.6m
Head

Track
Shaw Gate

!
(

SHAY
LANE

Farm
253.3m

!
( !
(!
(!
(
!
(
!
(
Church
(
!
(!

Vicarage

!
(
4

(
!!
(
!
(

Track

Houses

1

Hall
Issues
258.8m

!
(

(um

th
Pa

Track

)

h
Pat
(um

Oak

)

!
(

LB

k

ny
Rockside
Palmbrook

H
ou
se

!
(

Moonfleet

(PH)

High

Riverside
Rose
Talacre
Stonewalls
The Malthouse

Brandon

!
(

!
(
!
(

Farm
The Barn

k
Tr
ac

8

227.7m

!
(

LB

!
(!
(

!
(! !
((

(
!!
(
!
(!
(

!
(!
(
1

Ruins
The
Farm

!
(
(!
( !
!
( !
(
!
(

!
(
!
(
!
(

!
(
!
(

!
(
!
(!
(

Def

!
(

!
(

CS

RH

Trac
k

m
1.22

16

!
(

!
(
!
(
!
(

k

8
New C 9
ottage
s

House

!
(

ac
Tr

!
(
!
(

Track

!
(!
(
!
(

!
((!
!
((
! !
(
!
(
Cottage

!
(

Track

Tra
ck

as

House

!
(

Gate Farm

The Vill

Rock
Farm

Tk

!
(

The

!
(!
(

Foxt

!
(
246.3m

!
(

Track

Tr
ac

Su
n

!
(

vie
w

!
(
!
(
!
(
!
(

!
(
f
De

)

CS

FB
1.22m
FW

Pa
th

(um

Tra
ck

De
f
Sh
irle
yB
roo

k

FB
Issues

Path (um)

y
ED & Ward Bd
CS
Shirle
y Broo
k

FIGURE
3
Def

1.22m RH

Foxt - Indicative
Tree Cover
Shirley Brook
!
(

Significant Individual Trees
Significant Field Hedgerows

Significant Group of Trees and/or Woodland
Foxt Conservation Area Boundary

Pa
t

h

(u

m
)
This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey
material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown Copyright.
way
Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright & may lead
Dismantled Tram
to prosecution or civil proceedings. Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council Licence No.100018384 (2017) Ford

Page 132

Harston Rock

h
Pat

)
(um

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 133

Agenda Item 14.1

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 183

Agenda Item 15.1

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 207

Agenda Item 16.1

This page is intentionally left blank

